

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

Parental Stress and Parent-Child Relationships in Recently Divorced, Custodial Mothers

Kelly Lyn Murphy Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Kelly Murphy

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Magy Martin, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty

Dr. Elizabeth Essel, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty

Dr. Brian Zamboni, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2017

Abstract

Parental Stress and Parent-Child Relationships in Recently Divorced, Custodial Mothers

by

Kelly L. Murphy

MA, Walden University, 2007

BA, University of Akron 2003

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Psychology

Walden University

August 2017

Abstract

Divorce creates significant stress that can have an impact on parent-child relationship satisfaction. Past researchers have indicated that in times of high stress, parents may not be available for their children due to their personal issues. Attachment theory demonstrates the importance of the parent-child bond for the child as he or she matures, so this bond needs to be protected. The purpose of this quantitative, nonexperimental study was to examine the predictive relationship between parental stress as measured by the Parenting Stress Index, 4th Edition, Short Form (PSI-4-SF) and the parent-child relationship satisfaction as measured by the Parent-Child Relationship Inventory (PCRI) following a separation or divorce. A sample of 17 recently separated or divorced, custodial mothers who had at least one child between the ages 5-13 years were recruited through local schools and the Walden Participant Pool. They completed the PSI-4-SF, the PCRI, and a demographics questionnaire. A correlation analysis was conducted to analyze the relationship between parental stress and the level of parent-child relationship satisfaction, which was found to possess a significant negative relationship. Multiple regression analyses were then conducted, but neither child gender or child age influenced this relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction. However, mothers did report higher parent-child relationship satisfaction when their child was male. This study has a small sample size, so results do need to be approached with caution. This knowledge of which families may be most at risk for increased stress may promote positive social change by providing professionals insight into which families may be most in need to learn stress control and management to help protect the parentchild relationship.

Parental Stress and Parent-Child Relationships in Recently Divorced, Custodial Mothers

by

Kelly L. Murphy

MA, Walden University, 2007

BA, University of Akron, 2003

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Psychology

Walden University

August 2017

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my loving husband, who has been so patient and supportive through this long journey. This project is also dedicated to my three amazing children, Payton, Jonathan, and Kyle. I hope that I have set a positive example of how to multitask and achieve your goals no matter what obstacles get in your way.

Acknowledgements

There are so many people that have had a hand in helping me complete this dissertation. I would first like to acknowledge my husband for being so willing to take over for me with the kids so I could focus. I would also like to acknowledge Stephanie Childers. She has not only been a great friend, but has also many times helped our family out so I could get more work done. Also, I would like to thank Ellen Correll, the superintendent for the local school district for allowing me to advertise this study to the parents in the district.

I would like to thank Dr. Magy Martin, my committee chair, for her extreme patience, guidance, and timely feedback. I would also like to thank Dr. Elizabeth Essel for coming on to my committee to guide the statistical aspects of my dissertation. Dr. Brian Zamboni also provided insightful suggestions in making sure my work was up to university standards.

Throughout this process, many fellow students have been in the dissertation classroom with me. Some have gone on to graduate, while others are still working hard. The classroom that we shared has always been a supportive and positive place that anyone can post ideas or questions. I have heard that this positive feeling is not always the case, so I want to thank Dr. Martin for fostering this classroom atmosphere and to the classmates that were always willing to jump into a conversation to try and help with whatever the situation called for. This was truly helpful.

Table of Contents

List of Tables.	V
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	5
Purpose of the Study	6
Research Questions and Hypotheses	7
Theoretical Framework	8
Nature of Study	9
Definition of Terms	12
Assumptions	13
Scope and Delimitations	14
Limitations	16
Significance of Study	18
Summary	19
Chapter 2: Literature Review	21
Literature Search Strategy	22
Attachment Theory	23
Attachment Through Divorce	28
Divorce Overview	30
Parental Stress	33
Children's Reaction to Increased Stress and Divorce	34

	Custody	36
	Financial Stressors	37
	Relationships	39
	Postdivorce Parental Relationships	39
	Effects of Parental Conflict on Children	41
	Postdivorce Mother-Child Relationships	43
	Postdivorce Father-Child Relationships	46
	Key Child Characteristics	49
	Benefits of Divorce	50
	Conclusion	51
Cha	apter 3: Research Method	53
	Introduction.	53
	Research Design and Rationale	53
	Methodology	56
	Population	56
	Sampling and Sampling Procedures	57
	Procedures for Recruiting, Participation, and Data Collection	59
	Instrumentation	61
	Parenting Stress Index (4 th Edition, Short Form)	61
	Parent-Child Relationship Inventory	64
	Demographics Questionnaire	67
	Data Collection and Analysis	68
	Restatement of Research Questions and Hypotheses	69

Data Collection	70
Data Analysis	71
Threats to Statistical Conclusion and Validity	72
Reliability of Instruments	73
Data Assumptions	74
Sample Size	75
Protection of Participants' Rights	76
Ethical Issues in the Research Problem	76
Ethical Issues Pertaining to the Research Questions and Purpose	78
Ethical Issues in Data Analysis and Interpretation	79
Ethical Issues in Writing and Disseminating Research	79
Summary	80
Chapter 4: Results	81
Introduction	81
Data Collection.	82
Demographic Characteristics.	84
Descriptive Statistics of Continuous Variables	85
Data Screening.	86
Preliminary Data Analysis	86
Assumptions Testing.	87
Results	88
Summary	95
Chapter 5	97

Introduction	97
Interpretation of the Findings	99
Literature Review and Research Findings	101
Theoretical Framework and Research Findings	103
Limitations of the Study.	104
Recommendations for Action.	105
Recommendations for Further Research.	105
Implications for Social Change	106
Conclusion.	108
References	110
Appendix A: WPS Licensing Agreeement	127
Appendix B: PAR License Agreement	128
Appendix C: Demographic Questionnaire	130

List of Tables

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics of Demographical Data85
Table 2. Mean, Standard Deviation, Range, Skewness, and Kurtosis for Continuous
Variables
Table 3. Correlations Between Demographic and Study Variables
Table 4. Results for Regression with Parental Stress Predicting Parent-Child
Relationship Satisfaction While Controlling for Demographics
Table 5. Results for Regression with the Child's Age Moderating the Relationship
between Parental Stress and Parent-Child Relationship Satisfaction
Table 6. Results for Regression with the Child's Age Moderating the Relationship
between the Parental Stress and Parent-Child Relationship Satisfaction95

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Divorce is one of the most stressful life changing events a person may experience (Lamela & Figueiredo, 2011). Recent U.S. census data has indicated that close to 2 million adults go through a divorce each year (Center for Disease Control, 2015). Seventeen percent of marriages end before the fifth anniversary, and an additional 28% end before their 15th anniversary, which means that children also may be affected by divorce (Kreider & Ellis, 2011). Currently, no data exist on how many children are affected by divorce each year; however, given the divorce rates and the average length of marriage, it is assumed that this number is significant. The divorce process typically disrupts a child's daily routine, which can cause stress and have a long-term effect on the child's attachment to his or her parents (Sutherland, Altenhofen, & Biringen, 2012). Parental divorce can drastically alter the parent-child relationship, and in the long-term, a parental divorce can affect the romantic confidence and commitment of the child who lived through it (Wallerstein, Lewis, & Rosenthal, 2013). The first year following a separation or divorce is the most difficult; thus, making quick, decisive actions are key for the well-being of the children (Cohen & Finzi-Dottan, 2005). Positive social change can occur once a connection is demonstrated between parental stress and the parent-child relationships satisfaction. If certain child ages or gender are shown to predict increased parental stress, researchers can then focus more on these characteristics of the family. Professionals might then be able to inform and teach divorcing parents about the importance of stress management and how stress could have an impact on the

relationship with their children. Additionally, this could lead to more focused research into the effects of parental stress and interventions that could be implemented and further investigated.

This chapter includes the problem of divorce involving children, the purpose of the proposed study, the research question and hypotheses, and an introduction to the theoretical basis for this paper, which is attachment theory (AT). This chapter also includes definitions that will be used throughout the literature review. The assumptions, scope, delimitations, limitations, and significance of the study will be addressed before transitioning into Chapter 2.

Background

More than 850,000 couples legally divorced in 2012 in the United States, although not all states keep records, so the actual number is higher (Center for Disease Control, 2015). Given the divorce rates and the finding that 50% of divorced adults remarry in less than four years (Kreider & Ellis, 2011), it is likely that many children will experience the divorce of their parents and the divorce of at least one of their biological parents and a stepparent, thus making this a problem that affects many thousands of children on multiple levels.

The relationship a child has with his or her parents is often the first, most important, and longest lasting lifetime relationship. Throughout the years, this relationship can evolve and change in many ways, hopefully resulting in a positive experience for both parent and child. According to AT, this parent-child relationship is mostly based on protection, comfort, and support (Bowlby, 1988). If those elements are

missing or inconsistent, there could be concerns. During and immediately following a separation, the parent who lives with the child may have less time and energy to parent his or her children in the same way as before the divorce, especially if the parent has returned to school or work (Sutherland et al., 2012; Wallerstein et al., 2013). This sudden emotional and sometimes physical unavailability of parents at a time of family crisis can permanently damage even the best of parent-child relationships. This life change also affects the communication between parents and children, the trust in this precious dynamic, and their openness to share with one another (Wallerstein & Lewis, 2004). When parents are not available or when children are unable to trust their parents, they may turn to peers for companionship. However, children with feelings of loneliness, anger, and confusion may be more open to more negative peer activities such as delinquent acts or alcohol abuse (Wallerstein et al., 2013). The adjustment period following a divorce can sometimes take months or even years for both adults and children (Faber & Wittenborn, 2010).

Divorce has an impact on the divorcing adults by completely changing their lives and daily routines which can be extremely stressful. One or both parents may need to find a new house or apartment. If one adult has been a stay-at-home caregiver, he or she might need to return to work to pay bills (Sutherland et al., 2012). Starting daycare or spending increased hours with a babysitter can be upsetting for some children at this turbulent time. With financial strain, increased stress, and tension between adults, many children experience emotional, physical, and mental health consequences that may go unnoticed by otherwise distracted parents (Wallerstein & Lewis, 2004). Kahl et al. (2007) reported

that this overall stress felt by adults going through a divorce and the stress felt by the children is problematic in many ways, disrupting many areas of children's lives, including social, economic, and academic.

Researchers have emphasized the importance of the parent-child relationship in the short term as well as the long term, when the adult child may engage in a romantic relationship of his or her own (Wallerstein, 2005). However, while researchers have found that stress occurs during divorce, the levels of stress a parent feels and how this influences the parent-child relationship was lacking in the literature. Only one somewhat similar study was found; however, the authors focused on parental conflict and its impact on the parent-child relationship (Hakvoort, Bos, Van Balen, & Hermanns, 2012).

This study added to the existing literature by helping researchers understand the importance of parental stress and the effect the stress can have on the parent-child relationship if left unmanaged. While there is considerable research regarding children of divorce and the outcomes they may experience in a negative situation, it is unclear what personal characteristics of the child predict this outcome or to what degree parental stress affects parent-child relationship satisfaction. The results of this study will help guide researchers in understanding the severity of this scenario, which will be a positive first step in understanding the need for taking quick steps to help parents manage their stress levels so they can effectively parent their children with minimal negative effects on their relationship.

Problem Statement

When parental stress levels are increased, the communication between parents and children may be affected, thus leading to an increase in tension and fighting. A parent's increase in stress also can affect their ability to parent consistently and reliably, which can negatively influence the relationship they have with their child (Taylor, Purswell, Lindo, Jayne, & Fernando 2011). The timeframe during a parental separation and divorce can result in significant stress to all family members, making this a time of concern for researchers. After reaching an all-time high in 1980, divorce rates remained consistently high, with remarriage rates being frequent at about 50% within four years of divorce, and this rate does not appear to be dropping (Kreider & Ellis, 2011). In other countries such as China, Mexico, and numerous European countries, the divorce rate continues to rise making this a worldwide concern for families experiencing this life event (González & Viitanen, 2009; Swedberg, 2009; & Wang & Zhou, 2010).

It was difficult to find research in this specific area. Even with approximately 500 scholarly research articles published each year focusing on divorce (Anderson & Greene, 2013), there are still gaps in the literature that need to be addressed, not only in the United States, but globally to find effective ways to protect adults and children involved with a parental divorce. Numerous researchers have focused on stress (Hakvoort et al., 2012; Huurre et al., 2006; Kristjansson et al., 2009), and even more studies have focused on the parent-child relationship (Sutherland et al., 2012; Wallerstein et al., 2013; Yu, Pettit, Lansford, Dodge, & Bates, 2010); however, an extensive literature search has resulted in no articles that examine this specific relationship. Examining this relationship

between parental stress, the satisfaction of the parent-child relationship, and the child's age and gender provided insight into parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction. The findings will help to fill the gap in the literature, thus showing that the families going through a separation or divorce need intervention or education quickly to avoid potential damage to the parent-child relationship.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative study, which used a nonexperimental design, was to determine if the parent's stress level predicted parent-child relationship satisfaction as reported by the mothers. In this study, I also looked at child gender and child age to see if either of these characteristics influenced the strength or direction of the relationship between parental stress and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship. To attempt to ensure there were no other demographic characteristics that had influenced either parental stress or the parent-child relationship satisfaction, I also examined personal characteristics, such as the mother's age, mother's education, and the ethnicity of both mother and child, the separation status of the parents, and the amount of father involvement. The characteristics that exhibited an influence on either variable were first entered as control variables and will be discussed in Chapters 4 and 5. This study not only helped to fill the gap in the literature, but it demonstrated that parental stress had an influence on the parent-child relationship satisfaction and this could help guide further research with families that are recently separated or divorced.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Question 1: Is the stress level of recently separated or divorced custodial mothers associated with the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction?

 H_01 : The parental stress of the recently separated or divorced custodial mother will not be associated with the parent-child relationship satisfaction, as measured by the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI.

 $H_{\rm a}1$: The parental stress of the recently separated or divorced custodial mother will be associated with a negative satisfaction level of the parent-child relationship, as measured by the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI.

Research Question 2: Does the child's gender moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction?

 H_02 : The child's gender will not moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction.

 H_a2 : An increased report of parental stress will be associated with a lower parent-child relationship satisfaction and this relationship will be greater when the child is male compared to female.

Research Question 3: Does the child's age moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship?

 H_03 : The child's age will not moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction.

 H_a 3: The relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction will be moderated by the child's age. It is hypothesized that as the child gets older, this effect will be greater.

A demographics questionnaire was first given to each participant to better understand who the population was comprised of regarding age, ethnicity, education, the number of children in the household, the children's ages and gender, and time elapsed since separation or divorce. I first explored the relationships between these characteristics. I then entered the demographic characteristics that possessed additional significance criterion as covariates in all appropriate analyses. I reported on these significant characteristics in Chapters 4 and 5.

Theoretical Framework

AT was the theoretical framework in which this study was based due to its emphasis on a basic system in living things, attachment (Ainsworth, 1989). AT helps to explain the relationships that parents and children have with one another throughout their lives (Bowlby, 1979). One of the most important human relationships is that between parents and their children; however, many factors can threaten or damage this relationship including a parental divorce and the caregiver not being physically or emotionally available to the child in times of need (Bowlby, 1988).

AT has had many decades of research and support to maintain its credibility. This instinctual bond between caregivers and their children is important, as it can have a

significant effect on the caregiver-child relationship well into adulthood. Further, this bond can have a positive impact on individual well-being (Bowlby, 1979) and influence peer and romantic relationships. Stress is one such factor that can damage both the attachment style of the involved children and the ongoing parent-child relationship. AT will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 2 with relation to behaviors both caregivers and children display and the corresponding attachment styles that can influence other areas of an individual's life, especially in friendships and romantic relationships.

Nature of Study

In this quantitative study, I examined the predictive relationship between parental stress and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship with mothers who have recently experienced a separation or divorce. The mother's stress was measured using the Parenting Stress Index, 4th edition, short form (PSI-4-SF) (Abidin, 2012). The satisfaction of the parent-child relationship was measured by the Parent-Child Relationship Inventory (PCRI; Gerard, 1994). Both the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI were adapted for online use with the permission of the respective publishers. All survey questions were the same as the print version but were online as a convenience for the participants. Self-report surveys were used due to the ease at which larger numbers of participants can be reached in a relatively brief timeframe (Leedy & Ormrod, 2005). Once mothers agreed to participate by reading and accepting the informed consent, they first filled out a brief demographics questionnaire. I first analyzed demographics items, such as the mother's age, ethnicity, education, time since separation or divorce, and the amount of time the father spends with the children were to see if any statistical relationships emerged. The statistical

relationships that emerged within the demographics were entered as covariates in all analyses where appropriate and then were reported on in Chapters 4 and 5. Responses from participants were collected through a secure online website (SurveyMonkey) via self-report. All participants utilized a password-protected link that directed them to the informed consent, which was authorized electronically, a demographic questionnaire, the PSI-4-SF, and the PCRI. A correlation was run to analyze the relationship between parental and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship. Then multiple regression analyses were run to analyze the data regarding the child's gender or age being a moderator of the effect of parental stress and the satisfaction of the parent-child relationship.

Leedy and Ormrod (2005) found that when the face-to-face component of research is taken away, participants may feel like they can be more truthful because they have an increased feeling of remaining anonymous. This observation was made about surveys that are mailed to participants. It is assumed that online, anonymous research will also have this effect and participants will feel comfortable enough to be truthful, even if the truthful responses are not socially desirable.

Prospective participants were recruited by an advertisement in the online newsletter of a local school district, which reaches approximately 2000 families. This newsletter was e-mailed to parents once every two weeks and included news from the school, the district, and the community. The e-mailed newsletter and Facebook were among the most reasonable, cost-effective routes to reach a large population of parents. Due to the private nature of divorce, it is not feasible to address only the parents who are

separated or divorced. While the school employees may have known of some families that qualified for this study, they were not going to provide this confidential information for research purposes. The school district included students in kindergarten through eighth grade and is in a diverse part of the Midwestern United States. This school district is a consolidated district which means that families that attend are in several different though nearby towns. The school district also shared this opportunity with their families by posting a link to the study invitation on their Facebook page, which has over 2000 followers. Prospective participants were instructed to contact me via an e-mail address that was set up for this study for more information. Since participant recruitment was difficult due to the private nature of divorce, it was also necessary to utilize the Walden Participant Pool. Even after a significant amount of time, the ideal sample was not reached. This will be discussed more in later chapters.

A separate e-mail just for this study was set up as another way to make potential participants feel more comfortable sharing their experiences by feeling anonymous. This was a password-protected e-mail account that was only used for this study. It will be monitored after the study is completed in case participants wish to follow up and ask questions. Those who e-mailed me and were willing to participate were e-mailed the website link and password to enter the study. The publishers of the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI allowed these surveys to be adapted for online use; however, additional security needed to be utilized to protect these copyrighted surveys from being seen by anyone with Internet access. Employing a password-protected link on SurveyMonkey and

controlling the number of participants who received this password satisfactorily addressed the publishers' security concern.

Definitions of Key Terms

Attachment theory: AT describes the relationships that parent and children have with each other that later influence peer and romantics relationships (Bowlby, 1979).

Coparenting: Coparenting is the ability of separated or divorced parents to work together to raise their child and to meet their child's needs (Roberson, Sabo, & Wickel, 2011).

Divorce: A divorce is the legal ending of marriage (Cyr, Di Stefano, & Desjardins, 2013).

Legal custody: Legal custody refers to who retains the legal authority to make decisions for the child (Braver, Ellman, Votruba, & Fabricius, 2011).

Marital separation: Marital separation is the decision made by a married couple to live apart from one another due to marital problems (Hartman, Magalhães, & Mandich, 2011).

Negative life event: A negative life event can include the loss of a parent, parental divorce, a life-threatening illness (of a parent or child), a parent psychiatric disorder, and sexual or physical abuse (Strine et al., 2012).

Parent-child relationship: Parent-child relationship, according to Taylor et al. (2011) is the way in which a parent describes the relationship he or she has with his or her child. This may be a positive description or could include the parent's desire to be more connected to his or her child.

Parenting stress: Parenting stress is the feeling a parent has when he or she believes that he or she is unable to handle the parenting demands (real or perceived) at a moment (Harkvoort et al., 2012).

Postdivorce adjustment: Postdivorce adjustment is the process of adapting to the life changes that result from divorce as well as obtaining psychological and emotional well-being at some point after the divorce (Krumrei, Coit, Martin, Fogo, & Mahoney, 2007).

Residential or physical custody: Residential or physical custody refers to where the child lives a most of the time (Braver et al., 2011).

Separation: A separation is when a romantic relationship deteriorates to the point where the couple decides to live apart from one another (Cyr et al., 2013).

Shared parenting, joint physical custody, or equal parenting: Shared parenting, joint physical custody, or equal parenting is a situation when the child spends about half of his or her time with each parent (Kruk, 2012).

Assumptions

It was assumed that participants who volunteered for this study did not intentionally bias the results. It was further assumed that participants would understand the informed consent and would give appropriate answers to the questions asked of them. Also, it was assumed that participants would answer honestly, would recall with close accuracy the time frame since their separation or divorce, and would recall the recent events in their lives regarding answering the questions on the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI. It was also assumed that if more than one child lived in the household, the parent would

correctly recall the events involving that target child, which they would be asked to identify by age and gender on the demographics questionnaire before beginning the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI. It was assumed that this sample was representative of the parent population in this Midwest area. Making these assumptions helps us to clarify that, in research, not all things are within a researcher's control. As a researcher, I believe that these previously stated things are true but have limited means of proving this.

Scope and Delimitations

The relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction was examined in this study with recently separated or divorced mothers. This relationship was identified as being one such area of professional research that has been overlooked and not previously investigated. Multiple researchers implied that stress can affect parent-child relationships (Sutherland et al., 2012; Taylor et al., 2011; Wallerstein et al., 2013); however, an extensive literature search and review failed to locate any studies that demonstrated this fact. Additionally, the strength of this relationship, should one exist, needs to be measured. This study also aimed to examine the child's gender and the child's age as moderators between parental stress and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship. Researchers have demonstrated that children of divorce can exhibit numerous outcomes following a parental separation and divorce, these outcomes can vary greatly depending on the child's age (Lansford et al., 2006). For example, the older a child is, the more likely they might be to try alcohol or engage in other deviant behavior instead of talking about what is going on at home. However, a young child might show his or her emotions by crying or throwing a tantrum. These behaviors may

have an impact on parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction. Daughters tend to be emotionally closer to their mothers than sons (Beelmann & Schmidt-Denter, 2009). Following a separation or divorce, this typical closeness may change. Therefore, this study aims to examine this to see what the effect is on parental stress or the parent-child relationship satisfaction.

For this study to be feasible to conduct, decisions were made as to how to make this study researchable in a reasonable time frame. One such decision was only to include custodial mothers, rather than including mothers and fathers. This was based off on recent custodial arrangement estimates which indicated that mothers retain custody of the children in 68-88% of cases, while fathers only retain custody in 8-14% of cases (Braver et al., 2011). This decision was also based on the findings of Breivik and Olweus (2006), who reported many behavior problems with children who lived only with the father. This finding could be due to various unknown problems with the mother not being able or fit to take custody of the children.

The population criteria of mothers being divorced within two years was based on the frequently cited *crisis period* time frame following a separation or divorce (Vélez, Wolchik, Tein, & Sandler, 2011). Vélez et al. (2011) and Sigal, Wolchik, Tein, and Sandler (2012) guided this study's exclusion criteria of mothers who were not remarried or residing with a romantic partner. This was to remove the potential stress that comes with additional relationship transitions for the mother and for children. The results of this study have limited generalizability. With such as small sample, generalizing the results should be done with caution.

AT was the theoretical framework for this study due to its overall abundance of published research about to parent-child relationships as the child ages and matures. Mary Ainsworth has stated that the main strength of AT in research is due to its dedication to the biological basis of a person's behaviors (Ainsworth, 1989). There is also significant research regarding how parental divorce can affect the child and the parent-child relationship.

Limitations

Limitations to this study pertained to potential problems with the study design, which includes limitations to external and internal validity. Threats or issues related to internal validity were minimal in this study. Every participant completed the same demographic questionnaire as well as the same assessments (PSI-4-SF and the PCRI). First, participants read of this opportunity via electronic, e-mailed newsletter or Facebook, then they were asked to reach out to me via e-mail, so there was some familiarity with using computers or tablets on the part of the participants. Because this study was a confidential Internet study, the selection bias was minimal. Participants who contacted the me and then followed through and complete all assessments were included in the study. The mood the participant was in at the time she decided to log in and complete the surveys was beyond my control and could have been influenced by multiple conditions, as could exact feelings of stress at that moment. No intervention or treatment was offered; hence, social threats to the internal validity were eliminated.

Threats to external validity are that only participants who saw this invitation for the study who had Internet access and responded could participate. The findings may

reflect self-report bias, as participants may not have accurately and truthfully responded to all questions due to the use of the self-reported questionnaires. This study included those who had separated or divorced within the past two years, which ruled out valuable input from those divorced parents who may otherwise have been willing to participate. However, Mitchell (2010) reported that over two-thirds of respondents miscalculated their divorce date by 3 months on average. While this should not have greatly affected the data gathered, it does need to be considered when looking at the external validity of the study. This study included families with at least one child ages 5-13 years, thus excluding numerous families with children from a different age group. Participants completed this study from various computers or tablets in various locations. In this type of study, the researcher was unable to ensure that the location was private and quiet with minimal distractions. Possibly due to the inclusion and exclusion criteria, it was found that an adequate sample size is difficult to obtain. An additional challenge to recruitment with this population, of recently separated or divorced mothers, was that professionals that work with these women are highly protective of them. Attorneys, support groups leaders, and mediators were unwilling or felt ethically unable to present this study opportunity to their client or group members. The most frequent reason for this decision to not participate was that they did not want to add stress to these mothers by asking them to complete the study.

Significance of the Study

It was important to assess the relationship between parental stress and subsequent state of the parent-child relationship satisfaction to determine whether there was a need for intervention or education to prevent or undo damage associated within this 2-year timeframe in a separation or divorce. While divorce can influence many areas of parents' and the children's lives, not many studies have been published on the effect of parental stress on the parent-child relationship, leading me to believe there is still much unknown about the effects of postdivorce parental stress on the parent-child relationship. Additionally, examining specific demographic aspects of the participants and their families, such as the age and gender of the child to see if stress was influenced by these factors could give researchers insight as to which families, with certain characteristics, could need more assistance in getting through this tough time frame. While this is a small step toward a huge problem, it addresses concerns that millions of people face each year, not only in the United States but worldwide. Divorce rates are rising in numerous countries worldwide, which had previously been low occurrences; this rise is possibly due to the introduction of women's rights to developing countries (Kneip & Bauer, 2009; Swedberg, 2009; Wang & Zhou, 2010), thus making these findings promising for all regions of the globe.

This study has implications for positive social change at the individual, familial, global, and societal levels. This study has implications for positive social change by providing a better understanding of the degree to which parental stress affects the parent-child relationship satisfaction and what child characteristics may be exacerbating this

effect. Quantitative studies assessing these concerns are currently absent from the available literature.

Summary

Included in Chapter 1 is the background for this proposed study, demonstrating that not enough is known about the effect parental stress has on parent-child relationship satisfaction. According to AT, one of the most important relationships in someone's life is with their caregiver, which is usually the parents (Bowlby, 1979). This relationship needs to be protected from stressful life events such as a divorce. If children seek out their parents for comfort during this time, they may find that parent is not available emotionally or physically. This, over time, can result in a negative change in the parent-child relationship dynamic (Faber & Wittenborn, 2010). Parents and children who experience a divorce need assistance in this challenging time. Life changes that stem from a parental separation or divorce have a ripple effect on many areas of daily life, such as school and living situation, in addition to emotional and mental health effects that can last well into adulthood (Wallerstein et al., 2013).

Also, reported in this chapter was a brief overview of AT, the guiding theoretical basis for this study. The nature and variables of this study were discussed, which consisted of measuring the parental stress levels and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship. Key definitions, assumptions, and limitations were outlined to provide clarification. The research questions and hypotheses were introduced, as was a brief introduction to the study which will be given in much greater detail in Chapter 3.

The significance of this study was provided to show the study's goal to add to the current literature on parental stress and its effects on the parent-child relationship satisfaction.

Provided in Chapter 2 is a more comprehensive overview of AT, which helps to explain much about the parent-child relationship from birth until adulthood. A detailed review of the existing literature on children of divorce, including parental stress and the parent-child relationship will be presented. Additionally, Chapter 2 includes several types of parenting relationships that can affect the family dynamics and plays a significant role in the family stress and well-being.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

Little is known about the direct link between parental stress and the resulting parent-child relationship satisfaction. Although thousands of scholarly research articles pertain to children of divorce and their parents, this specific area lacks research. The parent-child relationship is precious and could be permanently damaged in many ways, such as the parent withdrawing from the child to deal with his or her own adult issues during the separation and divorce process.

With the number of divorces remaining high and involving numerous children worldwide, it is imperative that researchers find ways to protect the breakdown of the parent-child relationship. The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between parental stress and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship. Additionally, demographic variables were examined to see if factors, such as the child age or the child gender influenced parental stress and the satisfaction of the parent-child relationship. Also examined were the other demographics variable collected, such as the mother's age, education, or ethnicity to see if any significant relationships emerged that were not previously researched and reported upon in the literature.

It is well understood that a separation and divorce could be an extremely stressful experience not only for the adults but for children adjusting to the changes in their lives. Amato and Cheadle (2008) pointed out that a divorce is not a simple one-day event for a family. Many issues precede an actual separation, and the recovery process can be long. Hakvoort et al. (2012) reported that parental stress could have a negative impact on the

parent-child relationship; however, we do not know to what degree nor do we know what specifically causes the parental stress. It is unknown now the amount of damage parental stress following a separation or divorce could do to the child, the adult, and the parent-child relationship in the short and long-term.

AT was used as the guiding principle with this research because it focuses on the parent-child relationship from birth until adulthood. The ways in which the attachment styles and bonds are tried are discussed along with ways in which the attachment styles can change over time (Bowlby, 1988).

This chapter begins with the methods used to locate relevant literature. A brief review of Bowlby's AT (1988), which is followed by current literature that uses AT as it relates to children and families facing divorce. An overview of divorce as a worldwide problem is included. Next, ways in which stress can manifest itself within the family unit before and after a separation or divorce will be addressed as will the effects the children may feel and react to. Some concerns regarding the postdivorce mother-child relationship are presented as are concerns regarding the postdivorce father-child relationship. The child characteristics that are of special interest in this study are then highlighted. This chapter concludes with a brief overview of seeking help during this transition and why some divorces could be considered a good thing.

Literature Search Strategy

The literature reviewed was located through several universities and library databases. When searching the PsycINFO database, the following search terms were

used: divorce and children, divorce and adolescents, children of divorce, children of divorce and adolescent development, children of divorce and family relations, children of divorce and family, children of divorce and divorce, parent stress and divorce, and children of divorce and child custody. When using the University of Akron's Electronic Journal Center, which also includes PsycINFO, the following search terms were entered: children of divorce, divorce and children and stress, and divorce and stress. Many of the original articles used by Mary Ainsworth and John Bowlby had been located, printed, and saved many years ago as a student at the University of Akron. At that time, students at the University of Akron could access these historical articles through the History of Psychology Archives. The more recent searches for literature were restricted to peerreviewed journal articles that mostly employed quantitative research methods. No specific years were entered as search criteria; however, older sources were eliminated when appropriate, and the most current articles were utilized. Numerous valuable sources were from approximately 10-15 years ago; however, no more current articles with the same information could be located. When looking for appropriate assessment tools, the Mental Measurement Yearbook database through Walden University was utilized using the search terms stress and children as well as divorce.

Attachment Theory

The theoretical framework upon which this study was based is AT, which was proposed by John Bowlby and Mary Ainsworth in the 1940s. AT helps explain the behaviors of children based upon their relationship with their parents or other caregivers

(Bowlby, 1979). Attachment is the relationship that two individuals share (Ainsworth, 1969) and has several characteristics: (a) directed at a small number of people, (b) long lasting, (c) involves many shared emotions, (d) involves most of one's time being spent with the mother at the beginning of life, (e) involves both people in an attachment relationship learning from one another, (f) involves a fairly consistent organization pattern, and (g) involves an obvious biological aspect to protect each species (Bowlby, 1979).

Caregivers, often mothers, are the secure base for the child to return to after exploring his or her environment. Even babies as young as eight months start to investigate their world in short distances from their mothers; however, they frequently return to them or look at them for security to know it is safe to continue exploring (Bowlby, 1979). The child with a trusted secure base will go further and further away from his or her mother but will return in order reduce anxieties felt in the exploration (Bowlby, 1973). These attachment behaviors help babies form ideas about successful interactions and relationships. Not only does the mother need to be the secure base for the child, but she also needs to be aware of and respect her child's attachment needs and behaviors (Bowlby, 1988). Attachment behaviors are instinctive from infancy and are typically first noted between the ages of 6 and 12 months old (Bowlby, 1979). These lessen in frequency and intensity around the time the child is 3 years-old, when the child is confident enough to separate from the mother for small periods of time (Bowlby, 1958). Later in life, a child's relationships as an adolescent and into adulthood are influenced by the attachment he or she shared with the childhood caregiver in which can

be identified as being in three main categories; secure, anxious resistant, and anxious avoidant (Bowlby, 1973; 1988). More recently, a fourth attachment type for those children who did not fit neatly into one attachment category was proposed. This fourth attachment style was labeled disorganized (Purvis, McKenzie, Kellerman, & Cross, 2010).

The ways in which the primary caregiver interacts with an infant greatly influences the response of the child when the distance between the parent and child increases. The attachment style will be more secure if the child's needs are met immediately. For example, an infant, when crying for food or a diaper change, will benefit from his or her mother or another caregiver who comes quickly and consistently during crying fits. Infants want not only a clean diaper or milk but, also the caregivers' various soothing techniques, such as their voice, rocking, or being held by them (Bowlby, 1958).

AT helps explain why the quality and quantity spent with each parent is so important for the parent-child relationship. Although Bowlby and Ainsworth introduced AT and have provided a plethora of information, countless researchers have continued their efforts to expand on the theory and keep it relevant. In doing so, many have identified not only additional characteristics of parents and infants but also have described the children's potential behaviors at various ages. Parents are key in the attachment style formation in their children (Bowlby, 1973).

A secure attachment is in part created by a caregiver who quickly and appropriately takes care of a child's needs, and most children do fall into this category.

This caregiver also helps the child reduce his or her stress by being there as a secure base (Lowenstein, 2010). Caregivers are typically more emotionally available to their children and appropriately use discipline (Faber & Wittenborn, 2010). Secure children are confident that their caregiver will be responsive and available when they need them and overall are less anxious (Bowlby, 1973; 1988). They also possess a sense of worthiness as well as a belief that people are accepting (Platt, Nalbone, Casanova, & Wetchler, 2008). Teti, Nakagawa, Das, and Wirth (1991) shared that as preschoolers, children with secure attachments are less irritable, show fewer instances of avoidance and exhibit less aggressive actions toward their mothers or main caregivers.

Anxious-resistant children are not sure whether their caregiver will be readily available or responsive to their needs. These children exhibit anxiety when separated from their caregiver for fear they may not return. Anxious-resistant children frequently cling to their caregiver (Bowlby, 1988). A child with a resistant attachment style has been exposed to highly inconsistent parenting styles. His or her caregiver may go from being responsive and appropriate to the child's needs to be ignoring the child's needs. These children become concerned with their caregiver's responses to the point of showing signs of stress (Lowenstein, 2010).

Anxious-avoidant children possess little or no confidence that their caregiver will respond when needed. As children with an anxious-avoidant attachment type get older, they often let other children push them around. To keep this stressful situation with other children from occurring they attempt to keep a distance which prevents them from making friends. Parents of children with anxious-avoidant attachment styles may have

frequently refused or been unavailable to provide comfort or protection to their child when they needed it (Bowlby, 1988). Avoidant attachments typical have a caregiver who does not respond to the child when he or she is in need. In this case, the child also might be overly encouraged to be independent (Lowenstein, 2010).

Lastly, children with disorganized attachment do not fit neatly into any one attachment style (Purvis et al., 2010). The behaviors these children exhibit is too inconsistent to able to categorize them as anything different. A child with disorganized attachment has experienced a caregiver who is filled with dangerous or frightening behaviors such as abuse or other actions that a child could perceive as being threatening. In this case, communication is often confusing, and the roles that should be in place can be confusing as well (Lowenstein, 2010). The primary source of the trouble is that the child needs the parent, but is also afraid of them (Purvis et al., 2010) which accounts for the inconsistent attachment behaviors that may fluctuate dependent on the parent's perceived mood at the time.

People who do not possess a secure attachment more often see others as untrustworthy and as having negative intentions (Platt et al., 2008). In adolescence, attachment types manifest themselves in many ways. Adolescents who are avoidant can be described as quiet, possibly withdrawn, and sometimes have anger outbursts (Atwool, 2006). Page and Bretherton (2003) reported that an insecure attachment (which includes anxious resistant, avoidant, and disorganized), in addition to an unstable family environment, often resulted in increased anxiety in children about whether their noncustodial parent would be available if they needed them.

Attachment Through Divorce

These attachment styles can change over time, so determining what actions can influence these negative changes and finding ways to prevent negativity is key to a child's well-being. In households in which parental separation is a frequent threat, the attachment styles of children to their parents can change in a negative direction. The child also may experience anxiety and fear over this separation threat even if it never occurs (Bowlby, 1979). Pain, fatigue, and things a child can view as frightening, as well as the mother (or main caregiver) not being available, can all negatively influence ongoing attachment behaviors. Parents can help create a positive attachment relationship by being aware of and respecting their child's attachment behaviors (Bowlby, 1988). The parent-child relationship is based on protection, support, and comfort.

Stressful life events can increase the likelihood of someone's attachment style transitioning from secure to insecure by about 66%; however, when no major negative life event occurs, this transition to insecure attachment occurs only about 15% of the time (Sroufe & McIntosh, 2011). The forming of an attachment bond is a gradual process as is the breaking or damaging the attachment bond. When difficult events such as a divorce occur, the bond with a parent who moves out will not be severed; however, without contact and an attempt at some ongoing relationship this bond may diminish over time (Sroufe & McIntosh, 2011).

While fathers may be concerned about being there to tuck the child in at night or not being in the house when the child has a bad dream, Sroufe and McIntosh (2011) reported that day-time visits could be much more helpful in maintaining the secure

attachment bonds that have been built over the years. Additionally, it has been pointed out that there is no set number of hours of contact needed to create or maintain a secure attachment, and consistent, ongoing positive contact will protect this relationship.

However, Main, Hesse, and Hesse (2011) reported on the noncustodial parent spending time with the child. It is reported that taking the child out for a meal or to a movie might not be enough quality time for the parent-child relationship to strengthen. It is recommended that the parent attempt to engage the child in a long-term project that they do together, such as a large puzzle or planting a garden, so the child will be more excited to come back and see not only the project but the parent.

As children get older, the ways in which they are attached to a caregiver becomes more difficult to determine. As babies, it is appropriate to be held by a caregiver; however, older children do not tend to show as much open affection to their parents (Ludolph, 2009). During major life stressors, it may be noted that children may start to reengage attachment behaviors, even if these actions have not been present in quite some time. However; Faber and Whittenborn (2010) cited that the potential problem resides in the parents' availability and responsiveness to these attachment behaviors. If not available for their child, physically or emotionally, for an extended time frame the parent-child relationship could suffer. If the parent then becomes available to the child again, this negative effect could be reversed, and the parent-child attachment relationship could return to its former state.

The current study has built upon AT by demonstrating the connection between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction. Now that it has been shown

that parental stress immediately following a divorce results in a lower parent-child relationship satisfaction, future research can be aimed towards reducing parental stress to protect the parent-child relationship.

Divorce Overview

In recent decades, divorce has become a more common occurrence, with divorce rates remaining significantly high since reaching an all-time high in 1980 in the United States. Divorce rates have been steadily increasing in most industrialized countries (Kneip & Bauer, 2009), meaning that children in much of the world are experiencing the separation of their parents (Hakvoort, Bos, Van Balen, & Hermanns, 2011). Divorce has a direct impact on more than 2 million adults each year in the United States (Kreider & Ellis, 2011). For several decades researchers have been speculating why divorce rates are so high and figuring out how to quickly and effectively help families that are going through this transition.

One reason the divorce rates had once been lower is that in the 1950s, a significant stigma was associated with divorce (Neale & Flowerdew, 2007); thus, divorce was not yet considered a national concern due to its rare occurrence. Children of divorced parents were considered from 'broken homes' (Kelly, 2003). Between the years of 1966 and 1976, divorce rates grew by 113%, calling for more research on this issue. The term broken home is no longer a common way to describe divorced or separated families, thus demonstrating the decrease of the previously attached stigma associated with divorce (Abbey & Dallos, 2004).

European divorce rate also has risen due to new legislation adopted. Divorce used to be banned, except in cases where one spouse could prove adultery or physical abuse (González & Viitanen, 2009). Now many countries allow for 'no fault' divorces and will still permit a divorce even if one person does not want the divorce to occur (Kneip & Bauer, 2009). Divorce rates also have increased significantly in Mexico since the 1900s due to changes in legislation; thus, these rates now make divorce a global issue, not just an U.S. issue (Swedberg, 2009). Worldwide rates of divorce can vary greatly, with the United States ranking the highest at 50% (McCarthy & Ginsberg, 2007) and China's divorce rate as high as 26%. However, with over 1 billion people in China, having up to 26% of marriages end in divorce, China could be facing a significant problem (Wang & Zhou, 2010).

Children worldwide may be experiencing the same issues when their parents separate; however, depending on the country, individuals experiencing a divorce may receive different support and government assistance to make this process less stressful (Bratberg & Tjøtta, 2008). Furthermore, the overall findings indicate that, in recent years, the divorced couple is younger than in previous years, has completed less education, and often has fewer children (Strohschein, 2007). The size of the household is also smaller, and in general, they claim to be less religious than those couples that remain married (Djamba, Mullins, Brackett, & McKenzie, 2012). In analyzing census data, Kreider and Ellis (2011) found that in 2009 approximately 10% of marriages ended within the first five years of marriage; however, the average length of a first marriage was seven to eight years (at seven years the separation occurred, and, by the eighth year, the divorce was

finalized). Also found was that a person's second marriage also lasted, on average, seven to eight years. Overall these authors found that 83% of marriages last at least five years; 55% of marriages last 15 years, and 35% last 25 years (Kreider & Ellis, 2011).

The first two years following a separation or divorce is sometimes called the crisis period (Rogers, 2004), and it can be the most difficult for children due to various transitions, such as, relocating, attending a new school, the mother returning to work, and the caregivers being less available both physically and emotionally. During these first two years after a separation or divorce, children may exhibit troublesome behaviors or symptoms related to their overall mental health and well-being (Wallerstein & Lewis, 2004), including increased insecurities related to the fear that the other parent can leave them at any given time (Rogers, 2004). Grades in school may decline, and older children may begin experimenting with drugs or sex and may be getting into trouble with the law. Prevention programs that target families early on during this two-year period have not been as evident in the literature. Many studies have been done with children of divorce; however, there is no clear-cut answer on how to help these vulnerable children move through the process with minimal damage. Schools, churches, and community centers have employed various interventions; however, with little long-term success (Botha & Wild, 2013). More recently, with the advances in technology, several online based divorce education programs have been created and show promise for being successful (Bowers, Mitchell, Hardesty, & Hughes, 2011).

Parental Stress

Kristjansson, Sigfusdottir, Allegrante, and Helgason (2009) agreed that the stress level of a family contemplating divorce could be quite high. This stress easily can remain elevated long after a separation or divorce, depending on the situation. Cooperation between parents at the time of separation or divorce can reduce the stress felt by the household, which can help to protect the parent-child attachment style. Stress associated with divorce influences all family members and adds strains on the relations among family members, often leading to additional family conflicts. When parents are separating, they may be distracted and become emotionally and physically unavailable to their children (Sutherland et al., 2012). It was reported by Taylor et al. (2011) that in times of trauma, some people become egocentric and fail to think of others' needs, including those of their children which also can stress to the household. Even though a divorce is typically a stressful experience, the stress does not begin with the court's granting of the divorce. A divorce can be just one indicator of more underlying familial problems that need to be addressed (Huurre, Junkkari, & Aro, 2006). The stress can begin months or even years before the physical separation takes place as the relationship deteriorates to the point of making the decision to separate. One such cause of parental stress is the redefining of their roles as a parent with the other parent, but not being part of that couple as they were during the marriage (Lamela & Figueiredo, 2011). When adults are emotionally distraught and confused, children in the home feel the stress, confusion, and anger during and after their parents' divorce even if parents attempt to shelter them from arguments. Stress can jeopardize communication, thus making talking

to kids after a divorce more difficult (Afifi, Huber, & Ohs, 2006). Parents who attempt to remain in control of their ex-spouses' actions can add to this stress due to continued conflict. Teaching and often reminding divorced or separated parents that they can no longer control the actions of their ex-spouses could help relieve some of the tension that children experience (Sommers-Flanagan & Barr, 2005).

Hakvoort et al. (2012) report that parenting stress occurs when parents are not able to handle the parenting demands. Conflict with the other parent greatly increases one's stress. In a study with 8 to 12-year-old children, the authors utilized the Parent-Child Interaction Questionnaire. They found that maternal parenting stress significantly correlated with the rate of mother-child acceptance as well as mother-child conflict. The conflict between parents increased the mother's stress, which then negatively influenced the parent-child relationship (Hakvoort et al., 2012). According to Sutherland et al. (2012), the mother's stress has been attributed to increased parenting demands and from trying to balance her job outside the house with her household responsibilities.

Children's Reactions to Increased Stress and Divorce

The end of a marriage can surprise children. They may have been sheltered from the arguments and issues that lead to this separation. Even when they witness the fights, many children may not realize that the fights could lead to divorce. Due to this oftenunexpected change in their lives, children view divorce as a major life crisis that turns their world into upheaval. Distractions, such as finding a job or new housing, may inhibit or prevent parents from taking the time to reassure their children about the future and about what may or may not happen (Wallerstein & Lewis, 2004). Children often assume

that catastrophic events will occur, although the reality is usually not quite as bad.

Reassurance of everyday events, such as still having a birthday party or attending an upcoming event may be what the child needs to hear, even if he or she is unable or unwilling to verbalize it. Of course, reassurance of the bigger things, such as their house, school, and continued contact with the parent that left the house is much needed even if not asked.

Parental divorce is difficult on children at any age and differentially affects children in various developmental stages; therefore, the outcomes also vary with age (Lansford et al., 2006). From infancy, children may notice that someone is missing or that the mother is not as attentive. As children age, their emotions can become easier to distinguish because they often act out in frustration or to get attention. A child may receive poor grades and talk back out of anger. In adolescence, this acting out can be extremely harmful if left unnoticed or unaddressed. Adolescents are given more social freedom, which can mean more unsupervised time to get into trouble and experiment with alcohol, drugs, sex, and delinquent behaviors due to increased availability and natural curiosity (Wallerstein & Blakeslee, 2003). When parents are consumed with their personal issues, they may not notice a gradual decline in their children's grades, new friends, or indications of concerning activities in which their children may be involved, such as smoking cigarettes or drinking alcohol.

Instead of focusing on their children who are desperately in need of attention, parents can become self-involved due to a separation or divorce. To get the attention, children may take ill-conceived advice from friends and television (Wallerstein & Lewis,

2004). This advice or information is most likely not going to be appropriate to their specific situation, and it can lead to increased fears and stress. With their parents being inattentive, children may live in fear of what they believe will occur instead of asking for clarification.

Both parents and children tend to make efforts to reduce tension within the household. Some children may attempt to keep the daily schedules similar in both households while other children may avoid talking about activities at the other parent's house (Yarosh, Chew, & Abowd, 2009). Children's communication abilities are positively associated with their ability to cope with a parental divorce. Parental empathy (or the lack of it) can lead to the child stop talking about the divorce, which can affect his or her coping ability (Afifi et al., 2006).

Custody

Historically, child custody often was given to fathers; however, in the 1950s this changed from who could care better for a child financially to the one who primarily cared for the child's daily needs (Van Houtte & Jacobs, 2004). With the introduction of a 'no fault divorce' came the legal concept of the 'best interest of the child' to determine custody and living arrangements (Baiter, Buysse, Brondeel, De Mol, & Rober, 2012). Each custody case is now expected to be examined to determine the situation that best benefits the children (Breeden, Olkin, & Taube, 2008). This concept within the legal system of the best interest of the child has been implemented not only in the United States but in other countries such as Australia. However, if the mother has been the primary caregiver, then it is likely she will obtain custody of the children, provided there

are no safety concerns (Harmer & Goodman-Delahunty, 2014). Mothers are estimated to be awarded primary custody of children in 68-88% of cases, while fathers are granted this same designation only 8-14% of the time (Braver et al., 2011). Once a custody arrangement is agreed upon and filed with the courts, it can be difficult and costly to change; however, custody arrangements should be focused on the parent-child relationship and not necessarily on the amount of time spent together (Neale & Flowerdew, 2007). United States census data revealed that in women aged 25-44 lived with their minor children only slightly more than 50% of the time. Men in this same age group reported that they only lived with their minor children 21-25% of the time (Kreider & Ellis, 2011). Dale (2014) advocated for a legal system that will allow for the child to be able to voice what they want when appropriate based on the child's age and overall well-being and safety.

Overnight stays can become a major issue in custody hearings. Cashmore,

Parkinson, and Taylor (2008) indicated that, in post separation relationships, lack of trust
and significant conflict between parents lower the chance of the father getting overnight
stays with his children. However, the children who had more than 30 overnights per year
reported significantly greater closeness to the noncustodial parent, father involvement,
awareness of one another's interests and activities, and a higher quality of the
relationship. Another benefit was that the noncustodial parent was more involved with
the child and was more aware of the child's daily routine (Cashmore et al., 2008).

Financial Stressors

For separating or divorcing couples, money is a major issue and can have longlasting effects on co-parenting the children. For example, Cohen and Levin (2012) reported that the father's income has a negative effect on co-parenting. Additionally, when the mother works full-time, the amount of communication with the father is more frequent. When the father gives more money, some of the tension between parents is lessened. The period when the father moves out before the court determines an amount of child support is exceptionally stressful for the mother. Men are not legally obligated to pay anything for spousal or child support during this period, meaning that the mother and children may not receive any child support, in addition to losing the income that the father was bringing into the previously shared household for an extended period (Cohen & Levin, 2012). A parental divorce can decrease the family's socioeconomic status and increase the family's stress, leading to more risk factors for negative outcomes (Troxel & Matthews, 2004). Father's rights groups often promote the idea that child support and contact with children are linked, meaning that fathers might be more inclined to pay their support in a promptly to see their children more (Flood, 2012).

Different fears typically emerge for older children of divorce, such as the availability of funding for college or car insurance. When parents remain married, it is often assumed in many families that the parents will pay for at least a portion of their children's higher education costs; however, a divorce greatly reduces the likelihood of tuition payments by either parent. Without help paying for college, many children of divorce skip college or accept full-time employment while attending classes part-time,

which can increase their stress levels. Compared with children from intact families, children of divorce are less likely to complete college, less likely to apply to graduate school, and, if they do begin graduate studies, they are less likely to complete them (Wallerstein & Lewis, 2004).

Relationships

Postdivorce Parental Relationships

Baum (2004) identified three main types of parenting relationships: cooperative, parallel, and conflictual. Even if parents were cooperative and worked together before the separation or divorce, the stress from divorce and becoming a single parent may change the initial willingness to listen and work together with an ex-spouse. Roberson et al. (2011) described the fourth type of parenting, the disengaged co-parenting relationship. In this scenario, one parent may find it too difficult to interact with the ex-spouse, so he or she may keep a distance, even though that parent may miss out on seeing his or her children

Cooperative parents, also called stable parents (Roberson et al., 2011), are the most positive of the four types of parents. These divorced parents try to share the responsibilities and burdens equally. They also compromise more often when potential disagreements arise (Baum, 2004). Amato, Kane, and James (2011) share that cooperative parents of pre-teens report fewer instances of behavior problems and exhibit positive relationships with their non-residential fathers. Parents in the parallel parenting group do compromise at times, although they also are more likely to start arguments with one another. The disengaged parents are the adults who remove themselves from their

child's life, possibly as an attempt to avoid the ex-spouse. It is noted that disengaged parents can start off as conflictual parents and over time disengage from the child and the situation (Roberson et al., 2011).

The most stressful and least-productive parenting type is conflictual parents. Child support conflicts between parents as well as anger and frustration by everyone involved can lead to less cooperative parenting (Hans, 2009). Conflictual parents often require the courts to intervene even on minor decisions. These parents experience various feelings, such as anger, revenge, vulnerability, jealousy, hurt, and progress through many stages of grief, which may instigate their desire to fight (Mitcham-Smith & Henry, 2007). Roberson et al. (2011) suggested that separating parents with a conflictual relationship may be continuing the conflict to stay close to the other person. Parents with a significant conflict issues may need a third party to assist them with transporting the child between one another to avoid the potential for conflict in front of the child (Main et al., 2011).

AT is often used in custody hearings that involve conflictual parents. Lowenstein (2010) reported that mothers use this research to 'prove' why the children need to remain with her, their primary caregiver, all the time. Possibly due to the general instinct to want babies and young children to be with their mothers, this often works; however, it creates a horrible situation for fathers. Because they are limited in getting to know and form attachment bonds with their young children, when they do get to visit, the children are not going to be comfortable with him and may become anxious, leading to increased stress for everyone involved (Lowenstein, 2010).

Regardless of the custody arrangements, parents should try to put aside their personal animosities toward one another and try to communicate politely to discuss the children and children's schedule or activities. In doing this, children should be able to witness a positive working relationship, even after a divorce (Amato et al., 2011). To accomplish this, parents need to possess effective parenting and interpersonal skills. Having a positive mutually agreed upon divorce arrangement has been found to be linked to one's postdivorce well-being (Baitar et al., 2012). The significant conflict between parents and a decline in relationships can lead to increased levels of stress, which is associated with poorer overall health (Fabricius & Luecken, 2007). A professional can help couples through a divorce and can have a large effect on the couples by teaching them positive problem-solving skills.

Roberson et al. (2011) matched up post-divorce parenting styles with the parents' attachment styles. Not surprisingly, those with a secure attachment style were the most likely to be cooperative or stable parents. These parents also were the most likely to protect their children from the potential negative outcomes for children of divorce. These parents identified as having an anxious-ambivalent attachment are more often those engaging in a conflictual parenting relationship while those with avoidant attachment styles were more often disengaged parents.

Effect of Parental Conflict on Children

Children whose parents are divorcing can often feel like they are being put in the middle of parental conflict, which negatively affects their well-being due to of increasing tension and stress. According to some studies, these children did in fact report lower

levels of well-being (Amato & Afifi, 2006) and the long-term, they learned to handle conflict ineffectively. These children often felt less close to their parents and reported a lower quality of relationship with their parents no matter when the fighting occurred (Yu et al., 2010). Researchers have also found that these children are less securely attached to their parents. Children who are caught in the middle of parental conflicts would avoid any topic they believed might start a fight to avoid parental conflict (Afifi & Schrodt, 2003) or they may try to mediate the arguments to be close to both parents (Amato & Afifi, 2006). When this occurred, internalizing behaviors in these children, such as anxiety, were exacerbated. Amato and Afifi (2006) found that children of any age could be put into the tension filled situation with their parents.

Children caught in the middle of conflict have three options; they can try to maintain a positive relationship with both parents, they can choose one parent, or lastly, they can reject both parents. Children reported that feeling caught in the middle of a conflict after divorce is not as bad as when they lived in the same house because it is physically easier to get away from the parental conflict. Daughters reported being caught in the middle of a conflict more frequently compared to sons (Amato & Afifi, 2006). Two main concerns have been identified regarding children being in conflicts. First, a child easily could be caught in the middle of their parents' fighting. Second, children may have chosen to be close to only one parent to avoid stress from being close to both parents separately (Sobolewski & Amato, 2007).

Feeling caught in the middle of parental conflict rather than the actual divorce was a greater predictor of child's stress. Tension could be created in children of divorce if

their parents asked them for information about the other parent after a child's visit (Afifi & Schrodt, 2003). A household filled with conflict and instability can be harmful to children's development.

Even if parents attempt to hide their conflicts and arguments, adolescents are often aware of the tension. During adolescents, long lasting viewpoints and opinions are formed, including those on marriage. Elevated levels of conflict between the parents, while the family is intact and following a separation or divorce, can cause adolescents to have negative opinions about all marriages (Dennison & Koerner, 2006). Sobolewski and Amato (2007) warned that children who experienced a divorce characterized by high conflict levels were likely to avoid being close to either parent. Without this conflict, children were closer to their mothers in most instances. Parents who had high conflict relationships are at a disadvantage because fighting takes energy that can be better used to parent their child. They were less likely to respond or even notice their child's emotional or physical needs, making the situation much worse for the child (Ruschena, Prior, Sanson, & Smart, 2005). As the children became adults, the feelings of being caught in the middle decreased; however, the damage to the parent-child relationship might not be completely repairable by that time (Amato & Afifi, 2006).

Postdivorce Mother-Child Relationships

A parent-child relationship is going to be more stable when there is support and love within the relationship (Wallerstein et al., 2013). Most custody agreements leave the children in the mother's care for a significant part of the week. The mother-daughter relationship is often complex and can be influenced by a discussion of certain topics. To

improve mother-child relationships, some topics of conversation could include discussing good things about the father, the mother's happiness, hobbies, and the mother's hope for the future. Topics that can worsen the mother-daughter relationship include discussing negative aspects of the father, other men, and mom dating, mother's sexual desires, financial worries, job problems, or child support (Luedemann, Ehrenberg, & Hunter, 2006). In one study, when mothers made negative disclosures to the daughter concerning money and their job, the teenage daughter reported feeling older than she was (Koerner, Kenyon, & Rankin, 2006). While it may seem that sharing with one another strengthens the mother-child relationship, being a distressed adult's trusted confidant can be overwhelming and stressful for a child, even an adolescent. Boys and girls reacted to negative disclosures about their noncustodial parent; however, girls were more likely to agree with the negative statement and worry about such statements (Kenyon & Koerner, 2008).

Regardless of the family dynamics, the mother-daughter relationship has a higher emotional closeness compared with mother-son relationships (Beelman & Schmidt-Denter, 2009). While having a great relationship with both parents is ideal, this is rarely the case following a parental divorce. A suggestion is for mothers to talk with friends, coworkers, or a support group, but not to their children about their ex. It is never appropriate to put the children in the middle of financial concerns and conflicts. This is not aged appropriate, and children will typically connect financial support to emotional involvement, meaning that this topic could greatly affect their relationship with the noncustodial parent (Eldar-Avidan, Haj-Yahia, & Greenbaum, 2008).

Following a divorce, more than 50% of mothers become less responsive and less available to kids. Mothers have the challenging task of attempting to separate their feelings about the failed marriage and their ex out of their parenting practices. After a divorce, only about half of the mothers can continue a positive relationship with their children. After an adjustment period, the mother may be able to get her personal issues under control and return to being a better mother without too much damage being done to the parent-child relationship. Wallerstein et al., (2013) stresses how important it is for mothers to remain 'good moms,' if they fail to do this, the children are more likely to be lonely, angry, and confused which can lead to them being more easily influenced by their peers.

The mother-child relationship typically has profound influence over the father-child relationship. When the father distances himself or disappears from the child's life, the mother has the difficult job of helping the child work through this rejection (Wallerstein et al., 2013). However, with increased conflicts, Harkvoort et al. (2011) found through conducting a multiple regression analysis that, when the children experienced a lot of conflict with their mother, they also had high reports of conflict with their father. This effect was found to be similar with positive relationships as well. When children reported higher feelings of being accepted by their mother, they also tended to report higher feelings of being accepted by their father.

Postdivorce Father-Child Relationships

A major indicator of the father's relationship with his children is the type of relationship he had before the separation (Flood, 2012). Before a divorce or separation occurs, parents typically treat their children equally (Wallerstein & Lewis, 2007). Although there may be an obvious favorite, all children have both parents take care of their daily needs. After the divorce, the father, who usually has visitation rights rather than full custody, typically spends significantly less time with his children.

Although most fathers reported that they want to spend more time with their child, this is not always feasible. This reduction in time can damage the father-child relationship (Fabricius & Luecken, 2007). The more time children spend with their father, the better chance they will develop and maintain a positive relationship. On the contrary, when they spend less time with their father, the more stress and overall health concern the child will experience. Saini, Mishna, Barnes, and Polak (2013) presented research that shows promise for using technology to help the noncustodial parents maintain contact with their children using programs such as Skype or FaceTime. While there are still quite a few concerns with the child's privacy when communicating with their nonresidential parents in this fashion, it is an additional option for parents and children to stay connected.

Because divorced fathers typically move out of the family home, the effects of this move on father-child relationships remain in question. Spending less time with the father makes it more difficult for some families to remain close, especially when several days or sometimes weeks pass between visits. Scott, Booth, King, and Johnson (2007)

reported that children do benefit if they keep a good, close relationship with their fathers; however, this postdivorce relationship depends on the predivorce father-child relationship. In adolescence, children often attempt to distance themselves from their parents to spend time with friends. This, along with a parental divorce can complicate matters and make it difficult to maintain a close relationship (Scott et al., 2007). It is easier for younger children to maintain a relationship with their fathers because they have not yet begun to pull away to become more independent.

The noncustodial parent's involvement plays a key role in the children's adjustment. If the father does remain involved, it can reduce the number of misbehaviors exhibited by the boys. Following a divorce, fathers frequently have troubles switching from father/husband to father/ex-husband. Due to the necessary interaction with their exwives when arranging child visitations, some fathers may disengage from their children to avoid this discomfort (Baum, 2006).

With less time to spend with their children after a separation or divorce, fathers have fewer chances to invest (time or money) in their children (Kalmijn, 2007). It is estimated that by the time a child turns 16, the chance of being in contact with his or her father decreases by 50%, although the likelihood of parents remaining in frequent contact is influenced by the payment of child support (Hutson, 2007).

Maintaining a positive father-child relationship requires a significant effort after a separation. The fathers may not have a divorced dad role model to imitate so they must figure out situations for themselves. When the family lived together, it was easier monitor children's activities. With limited time, a father may only hear the main things going on

in his children's lives. His role has changed from being a full-time father to being a father for a few weekends per month and maybe a week or two during school breaks. A newly divorced father could benefit from a professional therapist or counselor to help him redefine his role in the lives of his children (Bokker, 2006).

Parents can work together by developing a civil or cordial relationship with another to help maintain a positive father-child relationship. Having a better relationship with an ex might awkward at first, but the children typically benefit from this scenario (Hakvoort et al., 2011). Custodial parents do have a great deal of influence on what the children think of the noncustodial parent (Menning, 2008). For many families that have divorced, the mother typically holds power and influence over her children's relationship with their father. Mothers can play an instrumental role in keeping the father-child relationship strong. No matter what the exact situation, it is important for the father to have a good relationship with his children because this is found to have an impact on the child's overall risk factors and with their chances for resiliency (Faber & Wittenborn, 2010).

Other things can change the father's willingness to visit his children or to have them stay at his new house. One major change can occur when one or both parents remarry. Because approximately 50% of divorced adults go on to remarry in less than four years after a divorced is finalized (Kreider & Ellis, 2011), it is likely that children will be in this scenario at some point in their childhood. The circumstances vary, depending on which parent remarries, but the outcome is often the same. The father spends less time with his children. When a stepfather enters the picture, especially one

who is well liked and successful, this can result in less time for the children with their biological father who may feel he is no longer needed. On the other hand, if the father remarries, his new wife can control his time and financial resources. If she comes to the marriage with children, she may require her new husband to spend time and money on her children rather than on his own children from a previous marriage (Wallerstein & Lewis, 2007).

Key Child Characteristics

While divorce research does tend to focus on the adult attributes and reasoning's behind the major decisions, the child's characteristics could play a role in the outcomes for their parents. The child's gender, for example, has been reported to result in a closer emotional relationship between daughters and mothers than that between sons and mothers (Beelmann & Schmidt-Denter, 2009). Since most custody cases result in the mother retaining custody of all the children (68-88%) (Braver et al., 2011), this leaves significant concern for the parent-child relationship that sons may have with their mother and the effects this may have on other aspects of their well-being. The boys that may have had a close relationship with their fathers may now be at a disadvantage when the father moves out and their time together in now limited (Wallerstein & Blakeslee, 2003).

The child's age is another child characteristic that may influence the outcomes of a parental divorce. Children that are older, around ten years old, are given more freedom to explore socially (Wallerstein & Blakeslee, 2003). Parents may, for example, allow these children to go over to friends' houses after school without first talking to the parents to ensure supervision. In times of distress, children may not be receiving the

parental attention they need (Sutherland et al., 2012). Without attention from their parent, children that are given more social freedom may find themselves being more open to negative social interactions, such as engaging in delinquent acts or alcohol abuse (Wallerstein et al., 2013). Because research has indicated that both child age and gender are crucial factors that might impact the relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction in recently separated or divorced families, both child gender and age were examined as potential moderators of this relationship.

Benefits of Divorce

After discussing so many negative consequences that can occur because of a parental divorce, one might wonder if a divorce has any positive aspects. Many variables can influence the outcomes; however, researchers agree that divorce is always for the best when the marriage is filled with physical abuse (Brenner & Hyde, 2006). Even if the abuse was never directed toward the children, they have witnessed abuse that can leave them scared, afraid of going home, and even fearful of the parent who was the abuser.

Although it might sound like an oxymoron, can a couple have a 'good divorce?' The research indicates that it is possible. Ahrons (2007) reported that a good divorce is one in which the children are able and are comfortable talking to both parents as well as both sides of the extended family. Children of divorce usually spend less time with their grandparents, aunts, uncles, and cousins, so maintaining frequent contact with extended family members can be positive for children, especially if they were a significant part of the child's life before the divorce.

Cooperative divorced parents can have a major influence on many areas of the children's lives while lowering their stress levels. The children can benefit from a more positive relationship with their grandparents, stepparents, and their siblings if they are not witnessing the tension between their parents. When this cooperation is not present, the tension that children feel follows them into adulthood, when they become concerned about parents getting along at their wedding, graduations, and events surrounding the birth of a baby. A child with uncooperative parents may feel like he or she must choose sides and align loyalties with one parent, which also causes stress well into person's adulthood (Ahrons, 2007).

According to Wallerstein and Lewis (2004), to survive a divorce unscathed requires three things. First, the parents need to reach a settlement without fighting. Second, the financial agreement needs to be fair to both adults. Last, children need to maintain contact with both parents. Every family and situation are different. Not every child sees parental divorce as a traumatic event and not every child needs professional help to successfully move past this event. Children do exhibit adjustment problems in diverse ways, which parents should be sensitive to because they know their children better than anyone else. These problems do need to be noticed and handled to ensure the children will succeed.

Conclusion

This chapter provided a detailed account of current professional literature about families experiencing a divorce, the stress they may feel and how this stress may manifest itself. A considerable number of studies have focused on children of divorce, on

decreasing the trauma associated with divorce, and on preventing the occurrence of negative behaviors resulting from divorce. The stress the parents experience can have a serious and long-lasting effect on the satisfaction of the parent-child relationship but to what degree? Parental stress and a parent-child relationship satisfaction that has changed also can lead to an increase in fighting and more tension within the household (Taylor et al., 2011). When the family situation is chaotic and stressful, this is when the children need to know that their parents are there for them, even if the parents no longer live together. The concern, though, is that this is the time when parents often become self-centered and focus mainly on themselves, leaving the children with minimal emotional support (Sutherland et al., 2012). Dependent on how long it takes for the parent to return to the previous level of caregiving, this may have a lasting effect on the parent-child relationship.

Chapter 3 includes the detailed the research design and approach, which includes data collection, analysis, the instruments being utilized, a description of the setting and sample, and concludes with the threats validity and the protection of the participants' rights.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this nonexperimental quantitative study was to examine the relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship in recently separated or divorced mothers

Based on consideration of the published, peer-reviewed scholarly research, it was hypothesized that parental stress levels play a key role in the satisfaction of the parent-child relationship and that it may be critical to examine this relationship within the first two years of a separation or divorce. The child's age and gender were also examined to see either or both influences parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction.

Included in this chapter is a detailed account of the proposed research methods for the study. It will provide details of the study, including the setting, sample, instruments, and procedures. Next, the data collection and statistical methods will be discussed. A review of the threats to the statistical validity, including the reliability of the instruments and data assumptions and sample size will be discussed. Finally, this chapter will end with a brief discussion of the ethical considerations taken to protect the participants' rights and well-being.

Research Design and Rationale

This quantitative study used a nonexperimental design in an online setting. The purpose of this study was to collect data using reliable and validly published instruments to determine if parental stress levels predicted the satisfaction of the parent-child relationship. The parent's level of stress was measured by a score obtained from the PSI-

4-SF, which was developed by Richard R. Abidin (2012). The parent-child relationship satisfaction was measured by using the PCRI, which was developed by Anthony B. Gerard (1994). In addition to the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI, a brief demographic questionnaire was administered to obtain a sense of who the participant pool consists of regarding mother and child's age, mother and child's ethnicity, maternal education, number and ages of children in the household, gender of the children, and the father's involvement with the children.

To be more easily accessible and convenient for mothers, this study was conducted online so they could complete the surveys at their convenience rather than schedule a time to drive somewhere to meet and having to find child care for this time frame. Once mothers received the link and password, they could complete the surveys when they had approximately 30-40 minutes available on their computer or tablet with Internet access. It was expected that, when a mother reports an overall higher stress level, it would be associated with the mother's report of lower levels of parent-child relationship satisfaction, indicating that parental stress may have an influence on the parent-child relationship. Additionally, the child's age and gender were examined to see what influence, if any, these characteristics had over the mother's stress and the satisfaction of the parent-child relationship. If this is found to be true with this population, it could lead to more research with larger sample sizes so interventions can be designed and implemented to help target families that have specific characteristics that make then more susceptible to the higher stress levels.

A quantitative method was used because of the availability of researched and published assessments that would provide information needed to determine the relationship between the variables. This is a more feasible and appropriate method rather than a qualitative or mixed-methods approach.

A nonexperimental research design was used because the variables were not being manipulated and no interventions or treatment were introduced. A survey design study has the advantage of being able to be administered to large numbers of participants in a brief time frame (Leedy & Ormrod, 2005). Another advantage was that it could be conducted online. A disadvantage of the survey type research was that the researcher was unable to further question areas of interest or concern or to make causal inferences.

Participants' self-report also increased the chances of bias.

Self-administered surveys were utilized for several reasons with the first being a consideration for the participant's time and scheduling. With these being online, participants could choose any time frame in which they had 30-40 minutes to get online and complete. They then did not have to coordinate schedules with me, find child care, and commute to the meeting spot. Self-administered surveys also reduced the effects of social desirability; there are no interviewer training costs to consider, and they also were cost effective for administering to large groups (Tourangeau & Yang, 2007). In this study, self-administered surveys were utilized also to help protect the participants' privacy in helping them to remain anonymous, which should have increased truthfulness

as is the case with self-reports surveys that were mailed to participants (Leedy & Ormrod, 2005).

Methodology

Population

The target population for this study was mothers from a diverse town in the Midwest that had at least one child enrolled in the local public-school district. Participants were recently separated or divorced mothers that had at least one child that is 5-13 years old, which is approximately kindergarten to eighth grade. Participants were of various ages, ethnicities, and education levels which were reported on specifically in Chapter 4. This area appeared to be a typical suburban area which should have extended to typical rates of marriage and divorce among those that live here. This school district consists of approximately 2000 families. Due to difficulties reaching a minimum sample size within this school district, the recruitment extended to Walden University's Participant Pool, with IRB's approval. To help maintain consistency with the findings, this study limited participation to include mothers only. Braver et al. (2011) report that mothers are awarded custody of the children in approximately 68-88% of divorces that involve children while fathers only receive primary custody in 8-14% of cases, which is one reason why, for this study, mothers are being asked to participate instead of fathers. A second reason that mothers only are being asked to participate is that research has indicated that when fathers receive full custody, there are sometimes concerns as to the mother's ability and willingness to care for the children that could add unknown stressors

and complications to this family dynamic (Breivik & Olweus, 2006). Participants were those mothers who were currently not involved in a long-term or a live-in relationship with someone who could have influenced the stress levels in the home as well as the parent-child relationship (Cooper, McLanahan, Meadows, & Brooks-Gunn, 2009).

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

A local school district in the Midwest agreed to allow a recruitment advertisement to be published in its electronic newsletter and on its district's Facebook page. Approximately 2000 families within the district received the newsletter once every other Friday along with close to 2000 Facebook followers. This school district included grade K-8, which aligned with the target child's age of this study. Those who read the advertisement and wished to participate were directed to e-mail me at an e-mail address set up for this study. A separate e-mail was set up because I am well known within the school community, and participation was set up to be confidential. Asking participants to e-mail for more information at the personal e-mail address could have immediately scared potential participants away. Once an e-mail was received by myself, potential participants were then e-mailed a response with the SurveyMonkey link and a password that allowed them to access the study, which included the informed consent, the demographic questionnaire (see Appendix C), the PSI-4-SF, and the PCRI. The advertisement provided through the newsletter and Facebook outlined the criteria for inclusion and exclusion, which included: 1) being a mother of a child ages 5-13; 2) being separated or divorced within the past 24 months; 3) mothers must have retained custody

of the child or have the child live with them for at least 50% of the time. Exclusion criteria included mothers in a committed relationship or those that have a live-in relationship because this could greatly influence the overall household atmosphere. These criteria were like those proposed by Sigal et al. (2012) and Vélez et al. (2011). These inclusion and exclusion criteria were in the initial advertisement and were also in the informed consent that the participant signed electronically by clicking on a 'Next' icon. This was a voluntary study with no financial compensation offered.

The test publishers were gracious in allowing me to adapt the PSI-4-SF (see Appendix B for permission letter) and the PCRI (see Appendix A for permission letter) for online use. To protect the tests and control the number of people with access to the published surveys, the participants had to first e-mail me for the link and password for the study. This arrangement helped to relieve security concerns about the published materials.

A convenience sample was used because it provided access to the parent population. The recruitment procedure did not allow the researcher to determine how many potential participants noticed and read the study flyer, but only how many it was sent out to via e-mail. Due to the personal nature of divorce, it also was not possible to know how many families fit the criteria from the total number of families in the district, nor was it possible to know how many families read the newsletter that was e-mailed to them. It is also unknown how many Walden University students read the notice of current studies when this one was posted or randomly visited the cite to participate.

The sample size of a study was conducted before research began as an attempt to ensure enough responses (Kelley & Maxwell, 2003). Having a large enough sample size, given the statistical analysis before conducting research and including the number of variables involved, reduces the chances for a Type II error, which is accepting the null hypothesis, when, in fact, it should not be accepted. To determine the sample size for this study, a power analysis was conducted using G*Power3.1 software (Faul, Erdfelder, Lang, & Buchner, 2007). This analysis demonstrated that with a power level .80, an alpha level of .05, and an effect size of .15, with four predictors the minimum required sample size is 85.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Participants were recruited to participate voluntarily by an advertisement in the local school district's electronic, e-mailed newsletter and through the district's Facebook page. No financial compensation was offered. Interested mothers contacted me via an e-mail address set up specifically for this study to help participants maintain a feeling of being anonymous. Potential participants were then e-mailed a password and a link to access the study set up in SurveyMonkey. This e-mailed password was set up to help maintain the security of the published test materials, at the request of the test publishers. Prospective participants were reminded within the log in process that this study would take approximately 30-40 minutes and that they needed to finish it all at one time. Once they exited out of the survey, they would not be able to finish later. In this study link, participants first read an electronic informed consent which laid out the criteria for

inclusion. The criteria for inclusion included: 1) being a mother to a child between the ages 5-13; 2) being separated or divorced from the father within the past 24 months; 3) have at minimum shared custody (living with the child at least 50% of the time); and 4) cannot be in a serious romantic relationship or have a new romantic partner living with the child. If the mother had more than one child in the 5-13-year-old age range, she was instructed to choose one child to think of while completing the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI and indicate this child's age and gender on the demographics questionnaire where indicated. This was so I could test to see if there are child age differences or child gender differences found; however, on the demographics questionnaire, it was important to share how many additional children were in the household and what their ages were. No personal identifying information was collected. The participants were reminded on the informed consent that this study would take approximately 30-40 minutes and they could not exit out and return later to finish what they already started. Once the participant clicked on the 'Next' icon on the informed consent, she was then taken to the demographics questionnaire, PSI-4-SF, and the PCRI. This survey was set up so that participants needed to provide an answer to a question before the next set of questions would be available to them, which eliminated missed or skipped questions that could have potentially disqualified the entire packet of the participant. On the demographics questionnaire, a response of N/A was included for those questions that might not pertain to everyone, such as providing the age and gender of a second or third child. The completed surveys were accessible only by the researcher and were downloaded onto a password-secured computer. Any data that was printed in hard copy format for scoring is

being be kept in a locked filing cabinet for five years which is the recommended time frame. Each data set was assigned a family number to ensure that the three assessments (demographics questionnaire, PSI-4-SF, and the PCRI) remain linked to one another; however, no identifying information was collected.

Within the informed consent, potential participants were advised that if they at any time felt that they did not want to continue with the survey, they could exit out of the survey and be done. They were also reminded that they had my e-mail address should they wish to make contact to ask questions or if they encountered a technical problem and needed the link and password reset. The offer was made to provide participants a summary of the overall findings after this project was approved if so requested. Unless the participant e-mails again or had requested the results in the initial e-mail, that would be the only time they were contacted.

Instrumentation

Parenting Stress Index, 4th ed., Short Form (PSI-4-SF)

The PSI-4-SF, created by Richard Abidin, was utilized to help measure the amount stress the parent has in her life that pertains to the child, herself, and overall life stressors. The original PSI (4th ed.) consists of 120 items and the PSI-4-SF consists of 36 items, which are adapted from the longer version. The PSI-4-SF consists of 36 questions that are answered by participants clicking SA (strongly agree), A (agree), NS (not sure), D (disagree), or SD (strongly disagree) (Abidin, 2012). Three of the 36 items ask respondents to answer in a different manner as indicated on the test. This assessment is

not timed, but it does take approximately 10 minutes to complete. The PSI-4-SF contains three main themes or domains: Parental Distress (PD), Parent-Child Dysfunction Interaction (P-CDI), and Difficult Child (DC) (Abidin, 2012).

The PD scale helps researchers and clinicians determine how much stress a parent may be feeling at that moment related to being a parent (Abidin, 2012). Some areas of interest within the scale include a damaged sense of being a competent parent, stress because one's role in their life, tension with the other parent, a significant lack of support, and depression.

The P-CDI scale examines the perception that parents report about their child and if that child has met their expectations. It also helps show researchers and clinicians if the parent-child interactions are not a positive experience. A high score on this scale could indicate that the bond between the parent and child is damaged or that it may have never been established (Abidin, 2012).

The third scale, the DC scale, measures characteristics that tend to make children easier or more difficult to manage. These characteristics include those that are more temperament and exhibit learned behaviors (Abidin, 2012).

The PSI-4-SF was created out of the PSI 4th edition updates. The authors used the full-length form to determine which items to retain for the short form. Those 12 items loaded the highest on each of the three scales were selected for the short form. The PSI has been updated to improve upon the psychometric limitations on some of the items

from the third edition. Additionally, several items needed to be updated in their language. One notable change that this author made was replacing all occurrences of the word 'spouse' and replacing it with 'spouse/parenting partner' (Abidin, 2012).

The PSI-4 was normed with 1056 adults, which included 534 mothers and 522 fathers. An attempt was made to make each of the groups equal about the children's ages and gender. Participants who completed the PSI-4 to help with this norming effort were from 17 different states in the south, northeast, west, and Midwest. The author also attempted to match the groups for education level and ethnicity. Parents had similar average ages as well, with moms being 33.24 years old, while dads were, on average 34 years old (Abidin, 2012).

To score the PSI-4-SF, the perforated strip on the right side of the Record/Profile Form packet needed to be torn off. The bottom sheet was where the scoring was computed (Abidin, 2012). The first step is to add the totals of items 1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 9, and 11. These items were highlighted in light green, and, together they make up the Defensive Responsive Scale. The next steps were to add up the sums on items 1-12, which make up the Parental Distress Scale; items 13-24, which make up the Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction Scale; and, finally, add the totals for items 25-36 which make up the Difficult Child Scale (Abidin, 2012). These raw scores were to be totaled to determine the Total Stress score. Once this was completed, these numbers were transferred to the profile page. In each column, the appropriate raw score range were located and marked with an X. The far left and far right sides of the profile feature

percentiles that helped to enlighten researcher and clinicians as to what raw scores mean. Once all the X's were made, draw a line connecting the X's to complete the profile of the respondent. This study was set up as an online study for the convenience of the parents; however, scoring still had to be done by hand. Once the data was received, the researcher transferred the items to a scoring sheet to continue scoring and interpret the information as described. Since the PSI-4-SF is not usually intended for online use, the responses provided by participants needed to be transferred to the appropriate profile form/scoring sheets for scoring and interpretation. To ensure accuracy, a research assistant that was unaware of the research questions was double checking the number transfer. There were no mistakes found throughout this process. This research assistant had no access to the participants' e-mail addresses which was the only way in which to contact them. There was no identifying information on the data sheets the research assistant checked for accuracy. Permission to use this assessment tool was granted by PAR's Permission Specialist (Appendix B).

Parent-Child Relationship Inventory (PCRI)

The PCRI is a 78 item, self-report assessment. It can be given by hand or on a computer. The function of the PCRI is to help obtain a score of a parent's feelings or attitudes about being a parent to his or her children (Gerard, 1994). This assessment tool is meant to be given along with other tools and is not recommended to be the only factor when making important decisions about a family. The PCRI was normed with both

mothers and fathers and can be given to either or both parents. It was standardized with over 1100 parents in multiple areas in the United States.

This 78-question assessment is written at a fourth-grade reading level and takes approximately 15 minutes; however, there is no time limit. Respondents reply to questions by using a 4-point-Likert scale, clicking *strongly agree, agree, disagree*, or *strongly disagree* (Gerard, 1994). When a parent is asked to complete this inventory, he or she should be instructed to think of the relationship with only one child if he or she has more than one.

The PCRI contains seven content scales: Parental Support Scale (SUP),
Satisfaction with Parenting Scale (SAT), Involvement (INV), Communication (COM),
Limit Setting (LIM), Autonomy (AUT), and Role Orientation (ROL). Twenty-six
questions are keyed in a positive way, which means that a participant response of
strongly agree or agree will be scored as a higher number. Forty-seven questions are
keyed negatively, meaning that a response of disagree or strongly disagree will result in
a higher numerical score (Gerard, 1994). The Parental Support scale helps researchers
determine the amount of physical or emotional support the parent should help them be a
parent. The Satisfaction with Parenting scale helps to determine if the parent likes being a
parent. The Involvement scale demonstrates if the parent seems to actively be a part of
his or her child's interest and activities. The Communication scale measures how well the
parent communicates with their child, in multiple settings and situations. The Limit
Setting scale includes questions about the parent's discipline style with their child. The
Autonomy scale measures how willing the parent is to assist their child to become

independent from them. Last, the Role Orientation scale measures how the parenting responsibilities might be shared with the other parent, and it also shares insight if the parent believes that mothers and fathers have specific gender roles when it comes to child care (Gerard, 1994).

The PCRI also contains two validity indicators: Social Desirability (SOC) and Inconsistency (INC). The SOC scale contains five questions that, when answered positively, could mean that the parent is trying to make his or her relationship with the child seem better than it may be. The INC scale consists of 10 pairs of questions that help the score discern if the parents are reading the questions or if they might be answering randomly (Gerard, 1994). If the responses in a data set indicated that a participant has responded in such a manner, her responses would have been separated out of the total responses and not included in any of the analyses. This did not occur in this current study.

This assessment is considered invalid if the parent leaves nine or more questions unanswered or if 8 or more questions have multiple answers indicated. When interpreting the results, low t-scores indicate poor parenting while high scores typically indicate good parenting practices (Gerard, 1994). This study was set up so that participants must answer all questions on a screen before the computer would allow them to move on to the next set of questions; thus, there were no skipped questions in this study. However, if the participant chose to quit the study early, it would have resulted in an incomplete data set and these would have not been included in the analyses. This occurred twice in this study.

The PCRI can be scored by hand or computerized system (Gerard, 1994). When scoring by hand, the perforation on the response sheet needs to be torn, and the scoring

page and PCRI Profile Form need to be removed. For each answered item, the number that has been selected or circled needs to be transferred to the box where indicated. There is a column for each scale; the numbers in each column must be added up and entered in the total box. Once the scores are computed, then the researcher or clinician can start to interpret the results. Since the PCRI is not usually intended for online use, the responses provided by participants were transferred to the appropriate profile form/scoring sheets for scoring and interpretation. To ensure accuracy, a research assistant that was unaware of the research questions double checked the number transfer. There were no inconsistencies found throughout this double check process.

For the purposes of this study, the Communication scale will be the focal scale for comparison of the parent-child relationship to the overall stress score from the PSI-4-SF. Several of the PCRI scales overlap in content with the PSI-4-SF; however, the Communication scale nicely encompasses the goal of the parent-child relationship satisfaction variable. The other scales within the PCRI were valuable in helping the researcher to know if the participants were answering truthfully and consistently throughout the assessment. Permission to use this assessment tool was provided the WPS Rights and Permission Assistant (Appendix A).

Demographic questionnaire

The demographic questionnaire included basic information about the mother: their age, separation status (separated, legally separated, divorced), education level (less than high school degree, high school degree or equivalent, some college, but no degree, bachelor's degree, or graduate degree), and ethnicity (American Indian or Alaskan

Native, Asian or Pacific Islander, Black or African American, Hispanic or Latino, White/Caucasian, or other). Along with separation status, participants were asked how much time has passed since the separation or divorce. Custody arrangement details were also asked about. Mothers were then asked to select the most appropriate way to describe their current custody arrangement: full custody, shared or joint custody, or if the father has no contact. Mothers were then asked to estimate the time percentage of where the child spends their time (70% with the mother and 30% with the father for example). Questions about children that the mother answered include ethnicity (American Indian or Alaskan Native, Asian or Pacific Islander, Black or African American, Hispanic or Latino, White/Caucasian, or other), the number of children in the household, and age and gender of each child. Because they were asked to think of only one child when completing the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI, participants were asked to indicate the age and gender of the child in mind when completing the surveys.

Data Collection and Analysis

This study was conducted entirely on the online survey site, SurveyMonkey. Participants were recruited via advertising in the local school district's electronic newsletter and on the district's Facebook page. The study ran for approximately for six weeks. Every two weeks, an e-mail newsletter and a Facebook post was sent out to alert parents to this opportunity. When a participant received the study notice and e-mailed me to take part in it, she was provided a password and a link to access the study. Due to difficulties reaching an ideal sample size, recruitment also then expanded to the Walden

Universities Participant Pool, with IRB's approval. Once participants electronically agreed with the informed consent, they were presented with the demographics questionnaire, PSI-4-SF, and the PCRI.

Restatement of Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Question 1: Is the stress level of recently separated or divorced custodial mothers associated with the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction?

 H_01 : The parental stress of the recently separated or divorced custodial mother will not be associated with the parent-child relationship satisfaction, as measured by the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI.

 H_a 1: The parental stress of the recently separated/divorced custodial mother will be associated with a negative satisfaction level of the parent-child relationship, as measured by the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI.

Research Question 2: Does the child's gender moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction?

- H_02 : The child's gender will not moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction.
- H_a 2: An increased report of parental stress will be associated with a lower parent-child relationship satisfaction and this relationship will be greater when the child is male compared to female.

Research Question 3: Does the child's age moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship?

 H_03 : The child's age will not moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction.

 H_a 3: The relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction will be moderated by the child's age. It is hypothesized that as the child gets older, this effect will be greater.

A demographics questionnaire was first presented to each participant to better understand who the population was comprised of regarding age, ethnicity, education, and time since the separation or divorce to name a few areas of interest. The research explored the relationships between these characteristics. When a statistical relationship occurred, it was entered as a covariate in all analyses where appropriate and is reported on in Chapters 4 and 5.

Data Collection

This study was conducted entirely on the online survey site, SurveyMonkey.com. Participants were recruited using the local school district's electronic newsletter and Facebook page. The superintendent granted permission to recruit local families using the school's electronic resources (see Appendix A). The study was run for six weeks, which means that a recruitment flyer was distributed via electronic newsletter three times. Every

two weeks a reminder Facebook message was also posted. More participants were needed to try and reach the ideal sample size so Walden University's Participant was utilized with IRB's approval. When a participant received the study notice and e-mailed for more information, she was then e-mailed a password and a link to access the study. Once participants electronically agreed with the informed consent, they were then presented with a demographics questionnaire, the PSI-4-SF, and the PCRI.

Data Analysis

The data was screened to ensure that all surveys were completed before scoring began. When participant ended the study without completing it (N=2), that data set was not scored nor was it used included in any statistical analyses. The survey cite was set up so that all questions on each page had to be answered before the next set of questions would be presented. This was done intentionally so that the data sets would not come back with multiple unanswered questions scattered throughout the data set. Data was analyzed using SPSS 24.0 software application for Windows. For hypothesis 1, a correlation analysis was conducted to determine if there was a relationship between the custodial mothers' stress and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship. For hypothesis 2, a multiple regression analysis was conducted to see if the child's gender moderated this relationship between parental stress and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship. The child's gender was treated as an independent variable (M). By adding this variable M into the analysis, it was expected that the direction and the strength of the relationship between child's gender and parental stress would be

correlated (Baron & Kenny, 1986). In this case specifically, it was expected that the child being a boy would increase the mom's stress which might also result in a lower satisfaction of parent-child relationship. Hypothesis 3 was tested using multiple regression analyses. The child's age was the independent variable (M) in this case. This analysis provided the strength of the relationship between the child's age and parental stress. In addition to these analyses, all demographics were examined to see if any other unexpected trends and relationships would emerge. These statistical relationships will be reported on in Chapters 4 and 5 and have been entered as covariates in the appropriate analyses. Based on previous research, it was expected that there would be a relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction; however, this research examined the relationship further to demonstrate several things; 1) showed how strong this connection was between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction; 2) attempted to demonstrate that the child's gender influenced the strength or direction of this association between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction; and 3) examined the child's age as a moderator to show that the child's age influenced the strength or direction of the association between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction.

Threats to Statistical Conclusion and Validity

This study did not involve an experiment or manipulation of the participants, so the threat to internal validity was low. Published, previously normed instruments (PSI-4-SF and PCRI) were used to help control for this factor. The raw data collected was

analyzed using the computer software SPSS version 24.0 for Windows to help reduce the likelihood of statistical error. Additionally, as with many research results, blanket generalizations should not be made (Leedy & Ormrod, 2005). In this instance, parents who have recently divorced and who live in a large, expensive city may have experienced significantly more stress than those who have recently divorced that live in small, rural towns, which typically have much more neighbor support. It should also be noted that only mothers will be completing this study, eliminating the valuable input from fathers. It is unknown how responses may differ between mothers and fathers, so it is important to keep this in mind when examining the results and generalizing to other areas and populations. Generalizing the results to all recently divorced parents could result in an error in the conclusions of the study. Due to the difficulties obtaining an ideal sample size, mothers were recruited through two diverse sources; a local, Midwest school system and the Walden Universities Participant Pool. Fourteen of the 17 packets that were used in the analysis were from the Midwest school system recruitment. There is no way to appropriately make a generalization about these two diverse participant pools. However, the focus can remain on the family's dynamics for generalizations.

Reliability of Instruments

The PCRI has an internal consistency of .82 median, and no score was below .70. The test-retest reliability after one week had a mean correlation of .81. After five months, the test-retest reliability was .55, which is acceptable (Gerard, 1994). When the scales were examined individually for test-retest reliability, the scales exhibited acceptable

numbers. After one week and five months respectively, the Support scale test-retest reliability went from .81 to .71; Satisfaction went from .73 to .49; Involvement went from .87 to .51; Communication went from .68 to .52; Limit Setting went from .93 to .49

Autonomy went from .78 to .44; and Role Orientation went from .89 to .71 (Gerard, 1994).

In altering the PSI-4 to the PSI-4-SF, several statistical measures were taken to ensure the reliability and validity of the short form. The validity correlation between the 4^{th} edition and the short form of the 4^{th} edition is .98, which is 'exceptionally high.' In creating the short form, several scales were taken out or renamed. The Parental Distress scale correlated with the Parental Domain, r = .94. The Difficult Child scale correlated with the Child Domain, r = .95. The Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction scale correlated with the Child Domain (.91) and the Parent Domain (.82) (Abidin, 2012). The internal consistency of item correlation was: Parent Domain .61; Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction .61, and Difficult Child .57. The overall total item correlation for Total Stress was .57 (Abidin, 2012).

Data Assumptions

The collected data was self-reported. It was assumed that participants would answer truthfully. Because they have volunteered for this confidential study and could have quit the study at any time if they felt uncomfortable, there were no obvious reasons to misrepresent themselves on these measures; however, often a participant may have misremembered events. Many of the items being asked were about the recent past; this effect shouldn't be of too much concern.

Sample Size

In general, the larger the sample size, the better the results may be (Leedy & Ormrod, 2005); however, it was not feasible to survey everyone who fits the criteria in the area. A random selection was utilized in that all parents in the district received the newsletter via e-mail or those parents that follow the school district on Facebook should have been able to receive this notice. Every family that chose to read the newsletter or clicked on the Facebook link were given the opportunity to learn more about this study; those who chose to contact the researcher and followed through with all surveys were included provided they fit the inclusion criteria. Had the sample size has been reached quickly, the advertisements would have ceased to go out in the newsletters and on Facebook earlier than anticipated. An additional recruitment method was added with the ethic's board approval. When the school's advertisements did not result in enough participants, this study was then posted on the Walden University's Participant Pool page. Through this Participant Pool, every student and faculty member that had registered to learn about study opportunities received an e-mail about this study being posted. After many months, these methods still failed to result in the ideal number of participants. All results should be approached with caution due to this small sample size. In the process of recruiting participants, it was noticed that professionals that work with this population of recently separated or divorced mothers are very protective of them. Attorneys, therapists, and divorce support group leaders were interested in this study and agreed that there was a great need for this information, but were unwilling to ask their clients to participate for

fear of adding more stress to these women. While these women are not technically a protected population set by the ethic's board, they are treated as such within their communities.

The study sample size is conducted before research begins as an effort to ensure there will be enough responses (Kelley & Maxwell, 2003). Having a large enough sample size, given the statistical analysis being conducted and the number of variables involved, reduces the chances for a Type II error, which is accepting the null hypothesis when in fact, it should not be accepted. To determine the sample size for this study, a power analysis was conducted using G*Power3.1 software (Faul et al., 2007). This analysis showed that with an effect size of f^2 is .15, the power level .80, the number of predictors being 4, and the alpha level .05, the ideal minimum sample size was 85.

Protections of Participants' Rights

Ethical behaviors and protection of study participants are a serious matter for psychological studies. Every action in this study was done so with careful consideration of the participants' wellbeing and privacy protection.

Ethical Issues in the Research Problem

Due to the delicate nature of conducting research with children, this study asked for only the parent to complete the assessment tools even though the child's perspectives could have provided significantly different viewpoints. Divorce involving children is a fundamental problem in the United States as well as in many other countries. The

information gathered potentially could lead to an intervention to help parents better handle stress to protect the relationship with their children. This information can help future researchers plan an appropriate intervention.

The assumed risks for filling out the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI were minimal; however, some questions may have upset participants by asking them to recall tough times. In the informed consent, participants were told that they could quit for any reason at any time without repercussions by exiting out of the survey. Participants were also informed that they could contact me via e-mail if they had any questions or concerns.

Before data collection began, the approval from the Walden University IRB was received (approval number: 05-02-16-0027955, expired May 1, 2017). Before any recruitment methods were altered, the IRB was contacted and additional approvals were received. The data collected was downloaded and is being stored on a password-protected computer as well as a backup flash drive that is being kept locked in a filing cabinet. Anything that was printed for scoring purposes is also be kept locked in a filing cabinet for five years, at which time the paper will be shredded before discarding. The SurveyMonkey study page was also password protected. This data will be destroyed appropriately after five years.

Ethical Issues Pertaining to Research Questions and Purpose

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Walden University. The American Psychological Association (APA) Ethics code 8.01 requires

truthful and complete information to be provided by the researcher to the review board for consideration (2010). The approved research must be followed exactly; any changes after the initial approval were approved before action was taken. Potential participants were instructed to carefully read through an informed consent document before beginning the study, which is by the APA's ethical code 8.02. The informed consent document included the time requirements of the study and its purpose. This study was estimated to take participants no longer than 40 minutes, and they had a written reminder at the beginning of the study that they can stop at any time they no longer felt they could nor wanted to continue. The informed consent provided at the beginning of the study let participants know that there were no penalties or repercussions for deciding to quit the study. The informed consent also included the limits of confidentiality and any incentives for participating. Further, included in the informed consent was my contact information and a plan for contacting someone if the participants felt they need to speak about concerns about the study. In two instances, incomplete data sets were submitted, it was assumed that the participant chose to quit the study and the questions that had been answered were not scored nor were they included in the data analysis.

The purpose of this study was to find out what the relationship was between parental stress and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship and if the child's age or gender influenced this relationship. There was no intended deception in this study. Participants were told truthfully, yet in general terms what the study was looking at before they began.

Ethical Issues in Data Analysis and Interpretation

The APA ethics code, 8.10 pertains to reporting research results (APA, 2010). The result of this study are accurate to the best of the researcher's knowledge and ability. The analyses were computed using a computer program (SPSS 24.0 for Windows) and were checked multiple times for inaccuracies regarding entering the data and giving the program the appropriate commands. If any items are later to be found incorrect, all reasonable steps will be taken to correct the concerning data.

Ethical Issues in Writing and Disseminating Research

The information and data collected are secured in a locked filing cabinet that only I have access to. The computer used for this project is password protected, and only I have access to this information. There was no identifying information collected, so the data is unable to be traced back to any individual; however, each data set, which includes the demographics questionnaire, the PSI-4-SF, and the PCRI, was assigned a specific family number to ensure that each document is from the same family. The information collected will only be used for educational research. After five years, all data collected will be destroyed appropriately.

Summary

This chapter presented the proposed research methods for this nonexperimental, quantitative study which examined the relationship between the stressors parent experiences during a separation or divorce and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship. The child's gender and age were analyzed to test the strength of effect

they had on the relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction. The research design, setting, sample, and instrumentation were described in detail. A demographic questionnaire was given to all participants. Also, two published, standardized assessment tools were used, the PSI-4-SF, and the PCRI. The reliability of the instruments was discussed as were the ethical issues surrounding the research process and the protection of the participants' rights, ensuring this study to be ethical and safe for all participants' well-being.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative, nonexperimental study was to examine the predictive relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationships following a separation or divorce. Parental stress was measured by the PSI-4-SF and PCRI. Specifically, the research questions and hypotheses of the study were:

Research Question 1: Is the stress level of recently separated or divorced custodial mothers associated with the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction?

 H_01 : The parental stress of the recently separated or divorced custodial mother will not be associated with the parent-child relationship satisfaction, as measured by the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI.

 H_a 1: The parental stress of the recently separated/divorced custodial mother will be associated with a negative satisfaction level of the parent-child relationship, as measured by the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI.

Research Question 2: Does the child's gender moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction?

- H_02 : The child's gender will not moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction.
- H_a2 : An increased report of parental stress will be associated with a lower parent-child relationship satisfaction and this relationship will be greater when the child is male compared to female.

Research Question 3: Does the child's age moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported satisfaction of the parent-child relationship?

 H_03 : The child's age will not moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction.

 H_a 3: The relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction will be moderated by the child's age. It is hypothesized that as the child gets older, this effect will be greater.

The first null hypothesis stated that there is no relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction. The second null hypothesis stated that child's gender would not moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction. The third null hypothesis stated that child's age would not moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction. These hypotheses were tested using Pearson correlation and hierarchical multiple linear regression analyses. An alpha level of α = .05 of was used to evaluate the significance of the findings. This section presents the method for collecting data and the results of the data analysis conducted to address the research questions and hypotheses. First, the details of the data collection will be presented, including descriptive statistics of the sample. Then the results of the analysis will be presented. Finally, this chapter will end with a summary of the findings.

Data Collection

Data for this study were collected by working with a local school district to put an advertisement in their electronic newsletter. This newsletter goes out to about 2000 families every other week. This went out three times in a six-week period. Additionally, the school district also posted this study on their Facebook page which also has approximately 2000 followers. In both methods of recruitment, potential participants were given the instruction to e-mail me for the study link and password. Even after these flyers went out to parents, more participants were needed. The study was then posted to the Walden University Participant Pool with IRB's approval. After a lengthy time-frame, the ideal sample size was still not achieved. During this process, numerous professionals were contacted to try and get an additional community partner. Divorce attorneys, family therapists, and divorce support group leaders were contacted. What was found was that these professionals are very protective of their clients. They were unwilling to ask their clients to participate in something that could potentially add more stress. While divorcing mothers are not officially a protected population, they are treated as such by those that work closely with them.

The data was collected from a total of 22 respondents. Once the data collection process was complete, the raw data were inputted into SPSS version 24.0 for Windows. Two participants did not complete major sections of the questionnaire and were subsequently removed. Three of the participants did not meet the inclusion criteria for children's ages and time since the divorce. The final sample size consisted of 17

participants.

Demographic Characteristics

Of the 17 responses that did meet the study inclusion criteria, descriptive statistics were examined for the nominal and continuous level variables. The gender of children was distributed between 10 males and seven females. Most of the participants were 36-40 years old (n = 6, 35.3%). The largest proportion of the participants had obtained their Bachelor's degree (n = 7, 41.2%). Most of the participants had only one child (n = 8, 47.1%). Children's ages ranged from 5.00 years to 13.00 years, with an average age of 9.12 years (SD = 2.57). Household income ranged from \$20,000.00 to \$140,000.00, with an average of \$58,875.00 (SD = \$32,626.93). The descriptive statistics of the respondents' demographic characteristics are presented in Table 1.

Table 1

Descriptive Statistics of Demographical Data

Demographic	n	%
Gender of child		
	10	50.0
Male	10	58.8
Female	7	41.2
Age of parent		
26-30	2	11.8
31-35	3	17.6
36-40	6	35.3
41-45	1	5.9
46-50	5	29.4
Highest level of education		
High school degree or equivalent	1	5.9
Some college but not degree	3	17.6
Associate degree	2	11.8
Bachelor degree	7	41.2
Graduate degree	4	23.5
Number of children		
1	8	47.1
2	3	17.6
$\frac{1}{3}$	5	29.4
4	1	5.9

Note. Due to rounding error, percentages may not always sum to 100%.

Descriptive Statistics of Continuous Variables

Parental stress scores ranged from 53.00 to 137.00, with an average of 83.24 (SD = 21.24). Parent-child relationship satisfaction scores were based on the Communication subscale of the PCRI and ranged from 25.00 to 50.00, with an average of 39.76 (SD = 8.12). Descriptive statistics for the continuous variables of interest are presented in Table 2.

Table 2

Mean, Standard Deviation, Range, Skewness, and Kurtosis for Continuous Variables (N = 17)

Continuous Variables	Min	Max	M	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis
Parental stress Parent-child relationship satisfaction	53.00	137.00	83.24	21.24	0.92	1.07
	25.00	50.00	39.76	8.12	-0.41	-1.23

Data Screening

Once the data collection process was complete, the raw data were inputted into SPSS version 24.0 for Windows. Two participants did not complete major sections of the questionnaire and were subsequently removed. Three of the participants did not meet the inclusion criteria for children's ages or the time since the divorce. The final sample size consisted of 17 participants.

Preliminary Data Analysis

Prior to the analysis of the research questions, Spearman bivariate correlations were computed to determine if there were any significant relationships between the demographic and study variables. The correlation coefficients are presented in Table 3. Parent age was significantly positively correlated with child's age (r = .62, p = .009). No

other correlations were significant. Therefore, parent age was included as a covariate in the main analyses.

Table 3

Correlations Between Demographic and Study Variables

Demographic Variable	Child's age	Child gender	Parental stress	Parent-child relationship satisfaction
Parent age	.62*	24	.09	26
Number of	.48	05	.32	17
children Education Household income	.00	12	32	.12
	21	32	04	23

Note. *p < .05. Spearman correlations reported for ordinal variables (parent age and education).

Assumptions Testing

Before Pearson correlation analysis for research question 1, the linearity assumption was tested by examination of a scatterplot. The relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction appeared to follow a negative linear trend. Therefore, the assumption of linearity was met. Before the regression analysis for research question 1, the parametric assumptions of normality, homoscedasticity, and absence of multicollinearity were assessed. The normality assumption was examined by visual inspection of a normal P-P plot between the observed cumulative probability and the expected cumulative probability. The data closely followed the trend line, suggesting that the assumption of normality was met. The homoscedasticity assumption was tested by visual inspection of a residual scatterplot. The homoscedasticity assumption was met

due to there not being a recurring pattern in the scatterplot of the data. The absence of multicollinearity assumption was tested by variance inflation factors (VIFs). Due to all VIF values being below 10 (highest VIF = 1.05), it can be assumed that the predictor variables were not too highly associated (Stevens, 2009).

Before the regression analysis for research question 2, the parametric assumptions were assessed. The data closely followed the trend line, suggesting that the assumption of normality was met. The homoscedasticity assumption was met due to there not being a recurring pattern in the scatterplot of the data. Due to all VIF values being below 10 (highest VIF = 1.95), it can be assumed that the predictor variables were not too highly associated (Stevens, 2009).

Before the regression analysis for research question 3, the parametric assumptions were assessed. The data closely followed the trend line, suggesting that the assumption of normality was met. The homoscedasticity assumption was met due to there not being a recurring pattern in the scatterplot of the data. Due to all VIF values being below 10 (highest VIF = 1.69), it can be assumed that the predictor variables were not highly associated (Stevens, 2009).

Results

Data analysis was conducted using SPSS version 24.0 for Windows. The first analysis examined the relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction using the scores from the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI. The null and alternative hypotheses for this analysis were as follows:

 H_01 : The parental stress of the recently separated or divorced custodial mother will not be associated with the parent-child relationship satisfaction, as measured by the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI.

 $H_{\rm a}1$: The parental stress of the recently separated or divorced custodial mother will be associated with a negative satisfaction level of the parent-child relationship, as measured by the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI.

A Pearson correlation and a hierarchical linear regression were conducted to examine the relationship between parental stress and the quality of the parent-child relationship. A Pearson correlation is an appropriate statistical analysis when assessing the strength of association between two continuous level variables (Pagano, 2009). A hierarchical linear regression is an appropriate statistical analysis when assessing the predictive relationship between a group of predictors and a continuous criterion variable (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013).

Cohen's standard (Cohen, 1988) was used to interpret the strength of the correlation coefficients, where coefficients between .10 and .29 represented a small association; coefficients between .30 and .49 represent a medium association, and coefficients above .50 represent a large association. Results of the Pearson correlation indicated that there was a statistically significant negative relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction (r = -.76, p < .001). By using Cohen's standard, the relationship between the variables represented a strong negative association.

This means that participants with higher parental stress scores tended to have lower scores for parent-child relationship satisfaction.

A hierarchical linear regression was conducted to examine the predictive relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction while controlling for parent age. Using the hierarchical linear regression method, the control variables were entered as the first step of the model. In the second step, the predictor (parental stress) was inputted. The change in R^2 between the two steps was noted.

Results of the first step of the regression model indicated that the demographic control variable did not have an effect on parent-child relationship satisfaction, (F(1, 15)) = 0.90, p = .358, $R^2 = .057$). The R^2 value indicates that approximately 5.7% of the variance in parent-child relationship satisfaction scores can be explained by the control variable. Parent age was not a significant predictor in the model.

Results of the second step of the regression model indicated that the demographic variable and parental stress have a significant collective effect on parent-child relationship satisfaction, (F(2, 14) = 9.92, p = .002, $R^2 = .586$). The R^2 value indicates that approximately 58.6% of the variance in parent-child relationship satisfaction scores can be explained by the control variables and the inclusion of parental stress in the model. An additional 52.9% of the variance could be explained by the inclusion of parental stress in the model beyond what is accounted for by the demographic factors alone. Parental stress (B = -0.29, t = -4.23, p = .001) was a significant predictor in the model, such that with every one-unit increase in parental stress, parental-child relationship satisfaction decreased by 0.29 units. The null hypothesis (H_0I) for research question one could be

rejected. The results for the hierarchical linear regression are presented in Table 4.

Table 4

Results for Regression with Parental Stress Predicting Parent-Child Relationship Satisfaction, While Controlling for Demographics

Source	В	SE	β	t	p	VIF
~ .						
Step 1						
Parent age	-1.39	1.46	-0.24	-0.95	.358	1.00
Step 2						
Parent age	-0.46	1.03	-0.08	-0.45	.661	1.05
Parental stress	-0.29	0.07	-0.75	-4.23	.001	1.05

Note. Step One: $F(1, 15) = 0.90, p = .358, R^2 = .057$

Step Two: $F(2, 14) = 9.92, p = .002, R^2 = .586$

The second analysis examined the moderating effect that the child's gender has on the relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction using the scores from the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI. The null and alternative hypotheses for this analysis were as follows:

 H_02 : The child's gender will not moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction.

 H_a2 : An increased report of parental stress will be associated with a lower parent-child relationship satisfaction and this relationship will be greater when the child is male compared to female.

A hierarchical linear regression was conducted to examine the moderating effect that the child's gender has on the relationship between parental stress and parent-child

relationship satisfaction. In this analysis, child gender was a dummy coded variable with 0 = female and 1 = male. Parental stress score was mean-centered to aid in interpretation of the analysis. Using the hierarchical linear regression method, the control variables were entered as the first step of the model. In the second step, the predictor and interaction term were inputted into the model. The interaction term was created by multiplying the mean-centered parental stress score by the dummy-coded gender variable for each participant. The change in R^2 between the two steps was noted.

Results of the first step of the regression model indicated that the demographic control variable did not have an effect on parent-child relationship satisfaction, (F(1, 15)) = 0.90, p = .358, $R^2 = .057$). The R^2 value indicates that approximately 5.7% of the variance in parent-child relationship satisfaction scores can be explained by the control variable. Parent age was not a significant predictor in the model.

Results of the second step of the regression model indicated that the demographic variable, parental stress, and parental stress*gender have a significant collective effect on parent-child relationship satisfaction, (F(4, 12) = 7.84, p = .002, $R^2 = .723$). The R^2 value indicates that approximately 72.3% of the variance in parent-child relationship satisfaction scores can be explained by the control variable and the inclusion of parental stress, gender, and the interaction term in the model. An additional 66.6% of the variance could be explained by the inclusion of parental stress in the model beyond what is accounted for by the demographic factors alone. Parental stress (B = -0.24, t = -2.97, p = .012) was a significant predictor in the model, such that with every one-unit increase in parental stress, parental-child relationship satisfaction decreased by 0.24 units. Child

gender (B = 6.16, t = 2.42, p = .032) was a significant predictor in the model, such that the child's gender being male (compared to female) increased parental-child relationship satisfaction by 6.16 units. The interaction term, parental stress*gender (B = -0.03, t = -0.26, p = .802), was not significant in the model, suggesting that gender was not a moderating factor in the relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction. The null hypothesis (H_02) for research question two could not be rejected. The results for the hierarchical linear regression are presented in Table 5.

Table 5

Results for Regression with the Child's Gender Moderating the Relationship between Parental Stress and Parent-Child Relationship Satisfaction

Source	В	SE	β	t	р	VIF
Step 1						
Parent age	-1.39	1.46	-0.24	-0.95	.358	1.00
Step 2						
Parent age	-0.12	0.92	-0.02	-0.13	.902	1.09
Parental stress	-0.24	0.08	-0.63	-2.97	.012	1.95
Gender	6.16	2.54	0.39	2.42	.032	1.09
Parental stress*Gender	-0.03	0.12	-0.05	-0.26	.802	1.82

Note. Step One: $F(1, 15) = 0.90, p = .358, R^2 = .057$

Step Two: $F(4, 12) = 7.84, p = .002, R^2 = .723$

The third analysis examined the moderating effect that the child's age has on the relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction using the scores from the PSI-4-SF and the PCRI. The null and alternative hypotheses for this analysis were as follows:

 H_03 : The child's age will not moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction.

 H_a 3: The relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction will be moderated by the child's age. It is hypothesized that as the child gets older, this effect will be greater.

A hierarchical linear regression was conducted to examine the moderating effect that the child's age has on the relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction. Parental stress score and child's age were mean-centered to aid in interpretation of the analysis. Using the hierarchical linear regression method, the control variables were entered as the first step of the model. In the second step, the predictor and interaction term were inputted into the model. The interaction term was created by multiplying the mean-centered parental stress score by the mean-centered child's age variable for each participant. The change in \mathbb{R}^2 between the two steps was noted.

Results of the first step of the regression model indicated that the demographic control variable did not have an effect on parent-child relationship satisfaction, (F(1, 15)) = 0.90, p = .358, $R^2 = .057$). The R^2 value indicates that approximately 5.7% of the variance in parent-child relationship satisfaction scores can be explained by the control variable. Parent age was not a significant predictor in the model.

Results of the second step of the regression model indicated that the demographic variable, parental stress, and parental stress*age have a significant collective effect on parent-child relationship satisfaction, $(F(4, 12) = 6.25, p = .006, R^2 = .676)$. The R^2 value indicates that approximately 67.6% of the variance in parent-child relationship

satisfaction scores can be explained by the control variables and the inclusion of parental stress, age, and the interaction term in the model. An additional 61.9% of the variance could be explained by the inclusion of parental stress in the model beyond what is accounted for by the demographic factors alone. Parental stress (B = -0.29, t = -4.43, p = .001) was a significant predictor in the model, such that with every one-unit increase in parental stress, parental-child relationship satisfaction decreased by 0.29 units. The interaction term, parental stress*age (B = -0.06, t = -1.73, p = .110), was not significant in the model, suggesting that child's age was not a moderating factor in the relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction. The null hypothesis (H_03) for research question three could not be rejected. The results for the hierarchical linear regression are presented in Table 6.

Table 6

Results for Regression with the Child's Age Moderating the Relationship between Parental Stress and Parent-Child Relationship Satisfaction

Source	В	SE	β	t	p	VIF
C4 1						
Step 1						
Parent age	-1.39	1.46	-0.24	-0.95	.358	1.00
Step 2						
Parent age	-0.80	1.18	-0.14	-0.68	.511	1.52
Parental stress	-0.29	0.06	-0.75	-4.43	.001	1.05
Child's Age	-0.05	0.68	-0.02	-0.08	.940	1.69
Parental stress*Age	-0.06	0.03	-0.31	-1.73	.110	1.20

Note. Step One: $F(1, 15) = 0.90, p = .358, R^2 = .057$ Step Two: $F(4, 12) = 6.25, p = .006, R^2 = .676$

Summary

Based on the results of the Pearson correlation and regression performed for research question 1, the null hypothesis (H_0I) was rejected as there was a statistically

Significant relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction. Concerning the second research question, the null hypothesis (H_02) was not rejected as the interaction term, parental stress*gender, was not significant in the model. This suggests that gender was not a moderating factor in the relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction. For the third research question, the null hypothesis (H_03) was not rejected as the interaction term, parental stress*age, was not significant in the model. This suggests that age was not a moderating factor in the relationship between parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction.

In Chapter 5, a summary of this study and an explanation of why and how the study was conducted is presented, as well as conclusions based on the results and the impact of these conclusions. Implications of this study are discussed, along with recommendations for future research.

Chapter 5: Discussions, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

The purpose of this non-experimental, quantitative study was to examine the relationship between a mother's stress and her reported relationship satisfaction she shares with her child shortly following a separation or divorce. Additionally, this study specifically focused on the child's gender and age to determine if either of these would show influence over the interaction between the mother's stress and her reported parent-child relationship satisfaction. This study sought to start addressing a gap in the literature by demonstrating the measurable interaction between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction as reported by the recently separated or divorced, custodial mother.

There were three research questions guiding this research. Question 1: Does the stress level of recently separated or divorced custodial mothers predict the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction? Question two is does the child's gender moderate the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction? Moreover, lastly, question three, does the child's age moderate the relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction?

Researchers have found that stress is often linked to negative feelings within the household, which could include the parent-child relationship (Hakvoort et al., 2012; Kristjansson et al., 2009; Wallerstein & Lewis, 2004); however, no published studies have aimed to show a statistically significant effect and identify family types might be

more vulnerable to this effect. I was motivated to create this study due to the lack of scholarly research on parental stress in recently separated or divorced families. A parental divorce will affect a child at any age; however, how children exhibit their feelings will vary according to their actual and developmental age (Lansford et al., 2006). Trying to target families that may be most at risk, based on child's age and gender is one way to determine where to begin on this significant concern. According to earlier findings, some younger children of divorce might act out or have 'temper tantrums.' School-aged children may begin having academic difficulty or defy their parents (Wallerstein & Blakeslee, 2003). As a child reaches the preadolescent-adolescent years, these acting out behaviors may have longer lasting consequences. These children may begin experimenting with drugs and alcohol, sexual behaviors, and delinquent behaviors. Parents may pay less attention to their child due to stress; thus, less parental supervision gives the child more freedom, and it might prevent them from finding innovative ways to deal with their feelings, which can be problematic (Wallerstein & Blakeslee, 2003).

Beelmann and Schmidt-Denter (2009) had indicated that daughters tend to have a closer emotional relationship with their mothers than sons do, meaning that the sons may be at a disadvantage when in the full custody of the mother. Around the age of 10 children, both boys and girls, tend to begin to insist on more independence from their parents (Wallerstein & Blakeslee, 2003). This need for more independence at a time of family disruption could add more stress to the family dynamics.

The parent-child relationship is one of the most important relationships a child can experience in his or her lifetime (Bowlby, 1979). From birth, most children have their mother caring for them, feeding them, and comforting them in times of distress (Bowlby, 1979), but during a separation or divorce, the mother may be distracted with her feelings and not able to comfort his or her child, which can be very upsetting to the child (Sutherland et al., 2012). Currently, in the United States, mothers are still awarded primary custody of the children approximately 68 to 88% of the time (Braver et al., 2011). This study focused on the mother-child relationship due to this more prevalent placement of the children. This study does not aim to diminish the feelings or the stress of the fathers who have been awarded full custody of their children; however, research shows that when a father is granted full custody, other family dynamics may have influenced the court's decision for custody which could affect the amount of parental stress as well as the child's stress (Breivik & Olweus, 2006)

This chapter includes the purpose of this study, reviews the research questions, provides interpretation of the findings as they relate to the literature review, and discusses the theoretical framework previously presented in Chapters 1 and 2. It addresses the limitations of this study, provides the recommendations for future research, and finally presents the implications for social change.

Interpretation of the Findings

The first analysis resulted in the null hypothesis being rejected, since parental stress, as measured by the PSI-4-SF, was a significant predictor of a decrease in the

parental-child relationship satisfaction, as measured by the Communication scale on the PCRI, among recently separated or divorced custodial mothers. When the mother reported higher stress, she also reported having a significantly lower satisfaction with the parent-child relationship. To help ensure that other factors had no influence on this relationship, the mother's age, the number of children in the house, mother's education, and household income were first analyzed to see what effect they may have on the mother's stress or the parent-child relationship satisfaction. The mother's age was the only significant effect found, so this was then used as a control variable. This is overall finding was consistent with what has been an assumption in the literature. Throughout the literature there has been an assumption that a mother's stress during a separation or divorce would affect the parent-child relationship (Luedemann et al., 2006; Harkvoort et al., 2011; & Wallerstein et al., 2013); however, no research demonstrated the actual link to this relationship, nor was the statistical significance of this relationship known. This study is the first step is knowing the severity of the relationship between a mother's stress during a divorce and the effect it has on the parent-child relationship satisfaction.

The second data analysis demonstrated that the null hypothesis could not be rejected. The child's gender was not found to be a moderating factor in the relationship between parental stress and the reported parent-child relationship satisfaction. However, when just examining the effect of gender on parent-child relationship satisfaction, there was an unexpected finding. When the child was male, the level of parental satisfaction rose by 6.16 units. This finding was surprising based on the previous literature that

indicated that boys would be at a disadvantage being placed in their mother's custody because boys are not as emotionally close to their mothers as are the girls in the family (Beelmann & Schmidt-Denter, 2009). Since the children are still more likely to live with their mothers most of the time (Braver et al., 2011), it was thought that boys might not fare as well as their sisters being away from their fathers more. It is unclear why this difference was found to favor the mother-son relationship. It is also unknown what the son thinks of the parent-child relationship. Replicating this study with a larger sample size may help clarify this finding.

In the final data analysis, the null hypothesis could be not rejected. The child's age was not found to be a moderating factor in the relationship between parental stress and the reported quality of the parent-child relationship. It had been expected that around the age of 10 years old, children begin to assert their need for independence from their parents, which sometimes can cause some tension (Wallerstein and Blakeslee, 2003). In a household that is going through a separation or divorce, it was expected that the child's age would be a factor in the relationship between mom's stress level and the subsequent satisfaction with the parent-child relationship, but this was not the case in this study.

Literature Review and Research Findings

This study does confirm prior assumptions that shortly following a parental separation or divorce, a mother's stress does negatively affect the parent-child relationship (Wallerstein & Blakeslee, 2003). With an estimated one million actual divorces occurring each year just in the United States (not including couples that separate

that had never legally married or the five states that do not keep records of divorces)

(Center for Disease Control, 2015), more research needs to be conducted. Moreover, additional programs should be developed to help these families. This study begins to explain the immediate need for a stress management intervention. Following a separation or divorce, more than 50% of mothers have been found to be less responsive to their child's needs as well as being less physically available (Wallerstein et al., 2013). Hence, children who are also experiencing the trauma of their parents' separation often must deal with their feelings by themselves which can impact the parent-child relationship on a permanent basis (Wallerstein et al., 2013) as well as have a negative effect on the child's attachment style (Faber & Whittenborn, 2010).

The child's gender has been proposed to affect the parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction. Mothers and daughters are reported to have a closer emotional relationship with one another compared to mother and son relationships (Beelmann & Schmidt-Denter, 2009). Since most mothers are still being awarded custody of all children (Braver et al., 2011), this could place the boys at a slight disadvantage.

Nevertheless, this study found no influence of the child's gender on the interaction of parental stress and parent-child relationship satisfaction. However, it was found that those mothers that had sons reported higher satisfaction with the parent-child relationship than those mother's that had daughters. This finding was unexpected and is currently unexplainable. Further research into this finding could help researchers to know if this was a onetime occurrence or if this would be a consistent finding.

The goal of this study was twofold. The first aim was to establish that parental stress has a negative impact on the parent-child relationship. The second goal was to try and determine child characteristics that may play a key role in the relationship between the mother's stress and the satisfaction of the parent-child relationship. The results support the hypothesis of a relationship between parental stress and the quality of the parent-child relationship; however, the age nor gender of the child influenced the relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction in this sample. Maybe with a larger sample size, findings may be different. This is the first known study to specifically study this interaction between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction. Attempting to determine if any child characteristics, such as age or gender, increases this stress and the parent-child relationship interaction is also a first.

Theoretical Framework and Research Findings

AT helps describe the relationships between children and their caregivers (parents usually) (Bowlby, 1979). These relationships can change over time based on the child's age and events going on within the family (Bowlby, 1979). The type of attachment a child possesses, whether secure, anxious-resistant, anxious avoidant, or disorganized, can change following a significant life event (Sroufe & McIntosh, 2011). This study showed that the satisfaction of the parent-child relationship diminishes with higher parental stress. In this study, the child's age did not show any significant results as originally expected. As children get older, their attachment behaviors change. Instead of crying and asking to

be held, as a toddler would do, an older child may have trouble exhibiting attachment behaviors that he or she has not done in a while (Ludolph, 2009). Parents, in times of stress, may not notice that their child has a heightened need for attachment type behaviors (Faber & Whittenborn, 2010), which is of concern. If a parent is over-stressed for a long time and the child's attachment needs are not being met, regardless of age, the parent-child relationship could suffer in the long-term. Something needs to be done quickly to prevent this from occurring in families going through a separation or divorce.

Limitations of the Study

One limitation of this study was that it was difficult to get access to recently separated or divorced mothers. The professionals who work closely with recently separated mothers are protective of these women. Many professionals reported that they see a real need for this study, but they were unwilling to ask these women to participate to avoid adding more stress to their day. To recruit more participants this researcher contacted schools, divorce and family lawyers, mediators, therapists specializing in divorce, and leaders of divorce support groups. Due to changes in recruitment methods, all of which were approved by IRB, it is not appropriate to generalize the findings to the originally proposed sample. Only 14 of the 17 respondents in the final sample were from a mid-west school system; therefore, it is not appropriate to generalize the findings to any specific geographic location.

Another limitation of this study is the reliance on self-reports. Self-reports can vary depending on the mood and the overall focus of the participant. This study was also

limited since this study could be taken anywhere. If the participants had an Internet connection, the environment (noise level and distractions) in which they completed the surveys is unknown.

Recommendations for Action

This study has demonstrated that there is still a lot we do not know about families going through a divorce. Until this area of inquiry officially expands it is recommended that professionals that work with these families begin teaching the importance of both stress management and the importance of maintaining the parent-child relationship. This information will be shared with the participants, the school district, and with some of the professionals that were asked to be community partners. They will be encouraged to use this information as they deem appropriate in their daily workings with students, clients, and groups members.

Recommendations for Future Research

Researchers with a greater number of professional contacts who could break down some of the barriers to reaching these mothers to obtain an adequate sample size should replicate this study to increase its generalizability. For now, it is being recommended that all parents who are involved in a separation or divorce need to be warned about the effects of their stress on their child. Some tips for stress management should be provided to all parents, not just the custodial parents. Additionally, research involving attachment styles could provide valuable insights. The parent-child relationship is one of the most important relationships a person will have in their lifetime (Bowlby,

1979) so it needs to be protected in any way we can. These results, along with previous research indicate that larger studies need to be conducted in various geographic location. Additionally, these families of divorce could benefit from this study being replicated with custodial fathers to see what if any differences exist between the parental stress with mothers versus fathers. Fathers who are awarded custody of their children are likely to have very different experiences regarding the parent-child relationship compared to mothers (Breivik & Olweus, 2006). Comparing custodial mothers' stress and its effect on father-child relationship to custodial fathers' stress and effects on their parent-child relationships could help determine the differences between mothers and fathers.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for social change include beginning a new area of inquiry with families of divorce and increasing what is already known. With approximately 2 million adults going through a divorce each year (Center for Disease Control, 2015), these findings have the potential to affect many of those in need. This study is the first one known of its kind to attempt to measure the severity of the impact of parental stress on the parent-child relationship satisfaction. By beginning this inquiry and showing that a connection does exist, this may have opened the door for additional studies that will add to the literature to help inform professionals how to better serve their clients.

Implications for social change within the community will be promoted in various ways. The first way is that the results will be shared with the school district that allowed the recruitment of their parents. Social workers and school psychologists in this district

will be given the results, which they may be able to incorporate their work with students, as they see appropriate. These results may make them more aware of some of the effects of parental stress, and they then might influence the way in which they interact with the children whose parents are separating. This school district is quite large, with seven schools and approximately 4000 students from approximately 2000 families, if the social workers and psychologists work together they can reach all the families this research pertains to, it could make an impact on the community.

Additionally, the community may benefit from this research is that while calling local attorneys, therapists, and support group leaders to attempt to reach more participants, three professionals requested the results of this study once all approvals have been given so they can learn and possibly implement this data into their approach in helping numerous families deal with divorce. As more professional know of these results, hopefully, the more interest there will be for further research.

Implications for societal social change will be promoted in two ways, through future research and by professionals using this new knowledge to inform their daily practices in working with families. Researchers can use this information to help expand the research to a much larger sample size to add to this research. Although the results of the current study showed promise of helping researchers to have a measurable strength of the relations between parental stress and the parent-child satisfaction as well as being able to identify characteristics of the child that may exacerbate this effect, there is still much to learn. These results, along with previous research indicate that families going

through a divorce need help. Many divorcing families have children of various ages who also experience this family transition (Wallerstein & Blakeslee, 2003). With so many separations or divorces, innovative programs need to be developed and implemented to give parents the tools and education they need to protect their children from the stressors and long-lasting damage associated with divorce. This study is the first step at working towards a stress management intervention or training for parents experiencing a divorce.

Conclusion

In this current study, a sample (N = 17) of recently separated or divorced moms who have their children living with them at least 50% of the time. This research was designed to examine these mothers' stress as well as satisfaction with their parent-child relationship through an online survey. The PSI-4-SF was used to measure stress and the PCRI was used to assess the satisfaction with the parent-child relationship. Additionally, several demographics questions were asked to assess the family dynamics of each participant. A Pearson's correlation was used to analyze the relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction. This relationship was significant and negative related, indicating that higher stress is associated with lower satisfaction with parent-child relationship. A hierarchical linear regression was conducted to see the effect of the child's gender on the relationship between parental stress and the parent-child relationship satisfaction. Gender did influence the parent-child satisfaction level, but not the parental stress. In those families with a boy, the parent-child satisfaction level was significantly higher. Additional hierarchical regression was conducted to examine the

moderating effect of the child's age on the parental stress and parental-child relationship satisfaction, although no significant effects were found.

One of the three proposed hypotheses were confirmed by using various analyses. The results add to the existing body of knowledge by showing that custodial mothers need some training or information on stress management and reduction to help ensure that they have the tools needed to effectively care for their children, especially in those critical first months of a separation when things may be very chaotic.

Through this study, social change is being promoted by adding to the available literature. Additionally, families and community partners from the study will learn about the results soon and can learn from the findings and begin to share this new knowledge when appropriate.

Moreover, the information provided by this study, along with decades of published research, has shown that there is still a lot to learn about families of divorce. Families' dynamics are never identical, making this area of research more challenging. This study presents only a snapshot of divorce in the United States; however, divorce is a worldwide phenomenon that affects not only the separating adults but also their children.

References

- Abbey, C. & Dallos, R. (2004). The experience of the impact of divorce on sibling relationships: A qualitative study. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *9*(2), 241-259. doi: 10.1177/1359104504041921
- Abidin, R. R. (2012). *Parenting Stress Index, Fourth Edition: Professional Manual*. Lutz, Florida: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Afifi, T. D., Huber, F. N., & Ohs, J. (2006). Parents' and adolescents' communication with each other about divorce-related stressors and its impact on their ability to cope positively with the divorce. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 45(1/2), 1-30. doi: 10.1300/J087v45n01 01
- Afifi, T. D. & Schrodt, P. (2003). "Feeling caught" as a mediator of adolescents' and young adults' avoidance and satisfaction with their parents in divorced and non-divorced households. *Communication Monographs*, 70(2), 142-173. doi: 10.1080/0363775032000133791
- Ahrons, C. R. (2007). Family ties after divorce: Long-term implications for children. Family Process, 46(1), 53-65. doi: 10.1111/j.1545-5300.2006.00191.x
- Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1969). Object relations, dependency, and attachment: A theoretical review of the infant-mother relationship. *Child Development*, 40, 969-1025. doi: 10.2307/1127008
- Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1989). Attachments beyond infancy. *American Psychologist*, 44(4), 709-716. doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.44.4.709

- Amato, P. R. & Afifi, T. D. (2006). Feeling caught between parents: Adult children's relations with parents and subjective well-being. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 68, 222-235. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3737.2006.00243.x
- Amato, P. R. & Cheadle, J. E. (2008). Parental divorce, marital conflict and children's behavior problems: A comparison of adopted and biological children. *Social Forces*, 86(3), 1139-1161. doi: 10.1353/sof.0.0025
- Amato, P. R., Kane, J. B., & James, S. (2011). Reconsidering the "good divorce". *Family Relations: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Applied Family Studies*, 60(5), 511-524. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3729.2011.00666.x
- American Psychological Association (2010). Ethical principles of psychologists and code of conduct. Retrieved May 2015 from http://www.apa.org/ethics/
- Anderson, E. R. & Greene, S. M. (2013). Beyond divorce: Research on children in repartnered and remarried families. *Family Court Review*, *51*(1), 119-130. doi: 10.1111/fcre.12013
- Atwool, N. (2006). Attachment and resilience: Implications for children in care. *Child Care in Practice*, 12(4), 315-330. doi: 10.1080/13575270600863226
- Baitar, R., Buysse, A., Brondeel, R., De Mol, J., & Rober, P. (2012). Post-divorce wellbeing in Flanders: Facilitative professionals and quality of arrangements matter. *Journal of Family Studies*, *18*(1), 62-75. doi: 10.5172/jfs.2012.18.1.62

- Baron, R. M. & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations.
 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 51(6), 1173-1182.
 Doi: doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173
- Baum, N. (2004). Typology of post-divorce parental relationships and behaviors. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 41(3/4), 53-79. doi: 10.1300/J087v41n03 03
- Baum, N. (2006). Postdivorce paternal disengagement: Failed mourning and role fusion. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 32(2), 245-254.

 doi: 10.1111/j.1752-0606.2006.tb01603.x
- Beelmann, W. & Schmidt-Denter, U. (2009). Mother-child interaction following marital separation: A longitudinal observation study. *European Psychologist*, *14*(4), 307-319. doi: 10.1027/1016-9040.14.4.307
- Bokker, P. (2006). Factors that influence the relationships between divorced fathers and their children. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 45(3/4), 157-172. doi: 10.1300/J087v45n03 08
- Botha, C. J. & Wild, L. G. (2013). Evaluation of a school-based intervention programme for South African children of divorce. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 25(1), 81-91. doi: 10.2989/17280583.2013.768528
- Bowers, J. R., Mitchell, E. T., Hardesty, J. L., & Hughes, Jr., R. (2011). A review of online divorce education programs. *Family Court Review*, 49(4), 776-787. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-1617.2011.01413.x

- Bowlby, J. (1958). The nature of the child's tie to his mother. *International Journal of Psychoanalysis*, 39, 350-373.
- Bowlby, J. (1973). *Attachment and loss. Vol. 2: Separation: Anxiety and anger*. United States of America: Basic Books.
- Bowlby, J. (1979). *The making and breaking of affectional bonds*. Routledge Classics: New York.
- Bowlby, J. (1988). A secure base. Routledge Classics: New York.
- Bratberg, E. & Tjøtta, S. (2008). Income effects of divorce in families with dependent children. *Journal of Popular Economics*, *21*, 439-461. doi: 10.1007/s00148-005-0029-8
- Braver, S. L., Ellman, I. M., Votruba, A. M., & Fabricius, W. V. (2011). Lay judgements about child custody after divorce. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 17*(2), 212-240. doi: 10.1037/a0023194
- Breeden, C., Olkin, R., & Taube, D. J. (2008). Child custody evaluations when one divorcing parent has a physical disability. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, *53*(4), 445-455. doi: 10.1037/a0013023
- Breivik, K. & Olweus, D. (2006). Adolescent's adjustment in four post-divorce family structures: Single mother, stepfather, joint physical custody and single father families. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 44(3/4), 99-124. doi: 10.1300/J087v44n03_07

- Brenner, J. R. & Hyde, J. S. (2006). Parental divorce and mother-child interaction. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 45(3/4), 93-108. doi: 10.1300/J087v45n03_05
- Cashmore, J., Parkinson, P., & Taylor, A. (2008). Overnight stays and children's relationships with resident and nonresident parents after divorce. *Journal of Family Issues*, 29(6), 707-733. doi: 10.1177/0192513X07308042
- Center for Disease Control (2015). *National Marriage and Divorce Rate Trends*.

 Retrieved from http://www.cdc.giv/nchs/nvss/marriage_divorce_tables.htm
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). St. Paul, MN: West Publishing Company.
- Cohen, O. & Finzi-Dottan, R. (2005). Parent-child relationships during the divorce process: From attachment theory and intergenerational perspective. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, *27*(1), 81-99. doi: 10.1007/s10591-004-1972-3
- Cohen, O. & Levin, L. (2012). Impact of financial and employment status on the coparenting of divorcing couples in Israel. *Journal of Family Studies*, *18*(1), 47-61. doi: 10.5172/jfs.2012.18.1.47
- Cooper, C. E., McLanahan, S. S., Meadows, S. O., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2009). Family structure transitions and maternal parenting stress. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 71, 558-574. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3737.2009.00619.x
- Cyr, F., Di Stefano, G., & Desjardins, B. (2013). Family life, parental separation, and child custody in Canada: A focus on Quebec. *Family Court Review*, *51*(4), 522-541. doi: 10.1111/fcre.12050

- Dale, M. D. (2014). Don't forget the children: Court protection from parental conflict is in the best interests of children. *Family Court Review*, *52*(4), 648-654. doi: 10.1111/fcre.12116
- Dennison, R. P. & Koerner, S. S. (2006). Post-divorce interparental conflict and adolescents' attitudes about marriage: The influence of maternal disclosures and adolescent gender. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 45(1/2), 31-49. doi: 10.1300/J087v45n01 02
- Djamba, Y. K., Mullins, L. C., Brackett, K. P., & McKenzie, N. J. (2012). Household size as a correlate of divorce rate: A country-level analysis. *Sociological Spectrum*, *32*, 436-448. doi: 10.1080/02732173.2012.694797
- Eldar-Avidan, D., Haj-Yahia, M. M., & Greenbaum, C. W. (2008). Money matters:

 Young adults' perception of the economic consequences of their parents' divorce. *Journal of Family Economic Issues*, 29, 74-85. doi: 10.1007/s10834-007-9093-4
- Faber, A. J. & Wittenborn, A. K. (2010). The role of attachment in children's adjustment to divorce and remarriage. *Journal of Family Psychotherapy*, 21, 89-104. doi: 10.1080/08975353.2010.483625
- Fabricius, W. V. & Luecken, L. J. (2007). Postdivorce living arrangements, parent conflict, and long-term physical health correlates for children of divorce. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 21(2), 195-205. doi: 10.1037/0893-3200.21.2.195
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, *39*(2), 175-191. doi: 10.3758/BF03193146

- Flood, M. (2012). Separated fathers and the 'fathers' rights' movement. *Journal of Family Studies*, 18(2-3), 235-245. doi: 10.5172/jfs.2012.18.2-3.235
- Gerard, A. B. (1994). Parent- Child Relationship Inventory (PCRI) manual. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services.
- González, L. & Viitanen, T. K. (2009). The effect of divorce laws on divorce rates in Europe. *European Economic Review*, *53*, 127-138.

 Doi: 10.1016/j.euroecorev.2008.05.005
- Hakvoort, E. M., Bos, H. M. W., Van Balen, F., & Hermanns, J. M. A. (2011).
 Postdivorce relationships in families and children's psychosocial adjustment. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, *52*, 125-146. doi:
 10.1080/10502556.2011.546243
- Hakvoort, E. M., Bos, H. M. W., Van Balen, F., & Hermanns, J. M. A. (2012). Spillover between mothers' postdivorce relationships: The mediating role of parenting stress. *Personal Relationships*, *19*(2), 247-254. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6811.2011.01351.x
- Hans, J. D. (2009). Beliefs about child support modification following remarriage and subsequent childbirth. *Family Relations: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Applied Family Studies*, *58*(1), 65-78. doi: 10.1080/13218719.2013.808977

- Harmer, A. L. & Goodman-Delahunty, J. (2014). Practitioner's opinions of best interests of the child in Australian legislation. *Psychiatry, Psychology, and Law, 21*(2), 251-271. doi: 10.1080/13218719.2013.808977
- Hartman, L. R., Magalhães, L., & Mandich, A. (2011). What does parental divorce or marital separation mean for adolescents? A scoping review of North American literature. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 52, 490-518. doi: 10.1080/10502556.2011.609432
- Hutson, R. A. (2007). Child support and parental conflict in low-income families. *Children and Youth Services Review, 29*, 1142-1157. doi:

 10.1016/j.childyouth.2007.04.004
- Huurre, T., Junkkari, H., & Aro, H. (2006). Long-term psychosocial effects of parental divorce: A follow-up study from adolescence to adulthood. *European Archives of Psychiatry Clinical Neuroscience*, 256(4), 256-263. doi: 10.1007/s00406-006-0641-y
- Kahl, S. F., Steelman, L. C., Mulkey, L. M., Koch, P. R., Dougan, W. L., & Catsambis,
 S. (2007). Revisiting Reuben Hill's theory of familial response to stressors: The
 mediating role of mental outlook for offspring of divorce. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 36(1), 5-21. doi: 10.1177/1077727X07303494
- Kalmijn, M. (2007). Gender differences in the effect of divorce, widowhood and remarriage in intergenerational support: Does marriage protect fathers? *Social Forces*, 85(3), 1079-1104. doi: 10.1353/sof.2007.0043

- Kelley, K. & Maxwell, S. E. (2003). Sample size for multiple regression: Obtaining regression coefficients that are accurate, not simply significant. *Psychological Methods*, 8(3), 305-321. doi: 10.1037/1082-989X.8.3.305
- Kelly, J. B. (2003). Changing perspectives on children's adjustment following divorce: A view from the United States. *Childhood*, 10(2), 237-254.doi: 10.1177/09075682030100002008
- Kenyon, D. B. & Koerner, S. S. (2008). Post-divorce maternal disclosure and the father-adolescent relationship: Adolescent emotional autonomy and inter-reactivity as moderators. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 17, 791-808.
 doi: 10.1007/s10826-008-9190-5
- Kneip, T. & Bauer, G. (2009). Did unilateral divorce laws raise divorce rates in Western Europe? *Journal of Marriage and Family, 71*, 592-607. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3737.2009.00621.x
- Koerner, S. S., Kenyon, D. Y. B., & Rankin, L. A. (2006). Growing up faster? Post-divorce catalysts in the mother-adolescent relationship. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 45(3/4), 25-41. doi: 10.1300/J087v45n03 02
- Kreider, R. M. & Ellis, R. (2011). *Number, Timing, and Duration of Marriages, and Divorces: 2009.* Washington, DC: US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, US Census Bureau.

- Kristjansson, A. L., Sigfusdottir, I. D., Allegrante, J. P., & Helgason, A. R. (2009).
 Parental divorce and adolescent cigarette smoking and alcohol use: assessing the importance of family conflict. *Acta Paediatrica*, 98, 537-542. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2008.01133.x
- Kruk, E. (2012). Arguments for an equal parental responsibility presumption in contested child custody. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 40, 33-55. doi: 10.1080/01926187.2011.575344
- Krumrei, E., Coit, C., Martin, S., Fogo, W., & Mahoney, A. (2007). Post-divorce adjustment and social relationships: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Divorce* & *Remarriage*, 46(3/4), 145-166. doi: 10.1300/J087v46n03 09
- Lamela, D. & Figueiredo, B. (2011). Post-divorce representations of marital negotiation during marriage predict parenting alliance in newly divorced parents. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, 26(2), 182-190. doi: 10.1080/14681994.2011.563288
- Lansford, J. E., Malone, P. S., Castellino, D. R., Dodge, K. A., Pettit, G. S., & Bates, J. E. (2006). Trajectories of internalizing, externalizing, and grades for children who have and have not experienced their parents' divorce or separation. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 20(2), 292-301. doi: 10.1037/0893-3200.20.2.292
- Leedy, P. D. & Ormrod, J. E. (2005). *Practical Research: Planning and Design* (8th edition). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Lowenstein, L. F. (2010). Attachment theory and parental alienation. *Journal of Divorce* & *Remarriage*, *51*, 157-168. doi: 10.1080/10502551003597808

- Ludolph, P. S. (2009). Answered and unanswered questions in attachment theory with implications for children of divorce. *Journal of Child Custody*, *6*, 8-24. doi: 10.1080/15379410902894817
- Luedemann, M. B., Ehrenberg, M. F., & Hunter, M. A. (2006). Mothers' discussions with daughters following divorce: Young adults reflect on their adolescent experiences and current mother-daughter relations. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 46(1/2), 29-55. doi: 10.1300/J087v46n01_03
- Main, M., Hesse, E., & Hesse, S. (2011). Attachment theory and research: Overview with suggested applications to child custody. *Family Court Review*, 49(3), 426-463. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-1617.2011.01383.x
- McCarthy, B. W. & Ginsberg, R. L. (2007). Second marriages: Challenges and risks. *The Family Journal: Counseling and Therapy for Couples and Families*, *15*(2), 119-123. doi: 10.1177/10664807062978467
- Menning, C. L. (2008). "I've kept it that way on purpose" Adolescents' management of negative parental relationship traits after divorce and separation. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, 37(5), 586-618. doi: 10.1177/0891241607310545
- Mitcham-Smith, M. & Henry, W. J. (2007). High-conflict divorce solutions: Parenting coordination as an innovative co-parenting intervention. *The Family Journal:*Counseling and Therapy for Couples and Families, 15(4), 368-373.

 doi: 10.1177/1066480707303751

- Mitchell, C. (2010). Are divorce studies trustworthy? The effects of survey nonresponse and response errors. *Journal of Marriage and Family, 72*, 893-905. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00737.x
- Neale, B. & Flowerdew, J. (2007). New structures, new agency: The dynamics of child-parent relationships after divorce. *International Journal of Children's Rights*, 15, 25-42. doi: 10.1163/092755607X185546
- Pagano, R. R. (2009). *Understanding statistics in the behavioral sciences* (9th ed.).

 Belmont CA: Wadsworth Cengage Learning.
- Page, T. & Bretherton, I. (2003). Representations of attachment to father in the narratives of preschool girls in post-divorce families: Implications for family relationships and social development. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 20(2), 99-122. doi: 10.1023/A:1022864614244
- Platt, R. A. L., Nalbone, D. P., Casanova, G. M., & Wetchler, J. L. (2008). Parental conflict and infidelity as predictors of adult children's attachment style and infidelity. *The American Journal of Family Therapy, 36*, 149-161. doi: 10.1080/01926180701236258
- Purvis, K. B., McKenzie, L. B., Kellerman, G., & Cross, D. R. (2010). An attachment based approach to child custody evaluation: A case study. *Journal of Child Custody*, 7, 45-60. doi: 10.1080/15379410903554832

- Roberson, P. N. E., Sabo, M., & Wickel, K. (2011). Internal working models of attachment and postdivorce coparent relationships. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, *52*, 187-201. doi: 10.1080/10502556.2011.569442
- Rogers, K. N. (2004). A theoretical review of risk and protective factors related to post-divorce adjustment in young children. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 40(3/4), 135-147. doi: 10.1300/J087v40n03 09
- Ruschena, E., Prior, M., Sanson, A., & Smart, D. (2005). A longitudinal study of adolescent adjustment following family transitions. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 46(4), 353-363. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00369.x
- Saini, M., Mishna, F., Barnes, J., & Polak, S. (2013). Parenting online: An exploration of virtual parenting time in the context of separation and divorce. *Journal of Child Custody*, 10, 120-140. doi: 10.1080/15379418.2013.796265
- Scott, M. E., Booth, A., King, V., & Johnson, D. R. (2007). Postdivorce father-adolescent closeness. *Journal of Marriage and Family, 69*, 1194-1209. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3737.2007.00441.x
- Sigal, A. B., Wolchik, S. A., Tein, J.-Y., & Sandler, I. N. (2012). Enhancing youth outcomes following parental divorce: A longitudinal study of the effects of the New Beginnings Program on educational and occupational goals. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 41(2), 150-165. doi: 10.1080/15374416.2012.651992

- Sobolewski, J. M. & Amato, P. R. (2007). Parents' discord and divorce, parent-child relationships and subjective well-being in early adulthood: Is feeling close to two parents always better than feeling close to one? *Social Forces*, *85*(3), 1105-1124. doi: 10.1353/sof.2007.0056
- Sommers-Flanagan, J. & Barr, L. (2005). Three constructive interventions for divorced, divorcing, or never-married parents. *The Family Journal: Counseling and Therapy for Couples and Families, 13*(4), 482-486. doi: 10.1177/1066480705278725
- Sroufe, A. & McIntosh, J. (2011). Divorce and attachment relationships: The longitudinal journey. *Family Court Review, 49*(3), 464-473. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-1617.2011.01384.x
- Stevens, J. P. (2009). *Applied multivariate statistics for the social sciences* (5th ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Routledge Academic.
- Strine, T. W, Shanta, R., Edwards, V. J., Prehn, A. W., Rasmussen, S., Wagenfield, M., Dhingra, S., & Craft, J. B. (2012). Associations between adverse childhood experiences, psychological distress, and adult alcohol problems. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, *36*(3), 408-423. Doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.36.3.11
- Strohschein, L. (2007). Challenging the presumption of diminished capacity to parent:

 Does divorce really change parenting practices? *Family Relations*, *56*, 358-368.

 doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3729.2007.00465.x

- Sutherland, K. E., Altenhofen, S., & Biringen, Z. (2012). Emotional availability during mother-child interactions in divorcing and intact married families. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, *53*, 126-141. doi: 10.1080/10502556.2011.651974
- Swedberg, G. (2009). Divorce and marital equality in Orizaba, Mexico, 1915-1940. *Journal of Family History*, *34*(1), 116-137. doi: 10.1177/0363199008328436
- Tabachnick, B. G. & Fidell, L. S. (2013). *Using Multivariate Statistics* (6th ed.). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Taylor, D. D., Purswell, K., Lindo, N., Jayne, K., & Fernando, D. (2011). The impact of child parent relationship therapy on child behavior and parent-child relationships:
 An examination of parental divorce. *International Journal of Play Therapy*, 20(3), 124-137. doi: 10.1037/a0024469
- Teti, D. M., Nakagawa, M., Das, R., & Wirth, O. (1991). Security of attachment between preschoolers and their mothers: Relations among social interaction, parenting stress, and mothers' sorts of the Attachment Q-set. *Developmental Psychology*, *27* (3), 440-447. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.27.3.440
- Tourangeau, R. & Yan, T. (2007). Sensitive question in surveys. *Psychological Bulletin,* 133(5), 859-883. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.133.5.859
- Troxel, W. M. & Matthews, K. A. (2004). What are the costs of marital conflict and dissolution to children's physical health? *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 7(1), 29-57. doi: 10.1023/B:CCFP.0000020191.73542.b0

- Van Houtte, M. & Jacobs, A. (2004). Consequences of the sex of the custodial parent on three indicators of adolescents' well-being: Evidence from Belgian data. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 41(3/4), 143-163. doi: 10.1300/J087v41n03 08
- Vélez, C. E., Wolchik, S. A., Tein, J.-Y., & Sandler, I. (2011). Protecting children from the consequences of divorce: A longitudinal study of the effects of parenting on children's coping processes. *Child Development*, 82(1), 244-257. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01553.x
- Wallerstein, J. S. (2005). Growing up in the divorced family. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, *33*(4), 401-418. doi: 10.1007/s10615-005-7034-y
- Wallerstein, J. S. & Blakeslee, S. (2003). What about the kids? Raising your children before, during, and after divorce. New York: Hyperion.
- Wallerstein, J. S. & Lewis, J. M. (2004). The unexpected legacy of divorce: *Report* of a 25- year study. *Psychoanalytic Psychology*, 21(3), 353-370. doi: 10.1037/0736-9735.21.3.353
- Wallerstein, J. & Lewis, J. M. (2007). Disparate parenting and step-parenting with siblings in the post-divorce family: Report from a 10-year longitudinal study. *Journal of Family Studies*, *13*(2), 224-235. doi: 10.5172/jfs.327.13.2.224
- Wallerstein, J., Lewis, J., & Rosenthal, S. P. (2013). Mothers and their children after divorce: *Report from a 25-year longitudinal study. Psychoanalytic Psychology*, 30(2), 167-187. doi: 10.1037/a0032511

- Wang, Q. & Zhou, Q. (2010). China's divorce and remarriage rates: Trends and regional disparities. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, *51*, 257-267. doi: 10.1080/10502551003597949
- Yarosh, S., Chew, Y. C. D., & Abowd, G. D. (2009). Supporting parent-child communication in divorced families. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 67, 192-203. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2008.09.005
- Yu, T., Pettit, G. S., Lansford, J. E., Dodge, K. A., & Bates, J. E. (2010). The interactive effects of marital conflict and divorce on parent-adult children's relationship.

 **Journal of Marriage and Family, 72, 282-292. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00699.x*

Appendix A: WPS Licensing Agreement

Hello Kelly,

It is now my pleasure on behalf of WPS to wrap-up your licensing arrangements for the use of the PCRI within your registered project. This email confirms WPS's receipt of your licensed prepayment for 100 adapted/online uses of the PCRI within your scholarly project.

Attached you'll now find our reprint authorization for the indicated use, including the copyright notice that must appear on each reprint/viewing of the PCRI. Your payment was processed, and your paid-in-full receipt will be emailed to you.

If the project requires you to make additional uses of the PCRI beyond those licensed, please contact me directly, with your license number (70098580), to make the supplemental licensing arrangements and receive a quote for the additional per-use fees.

Also, looking ahead to the end of your study, see the attached document for our policy on the inclusion of test material within research papers, reports, and articles. All best wishes in launching the project, and thank you again for your interest in the PCRI. On behalf of WPS, I appreciate your interest in using this instrument as part of your research investigation, and look forward to learning in due course about the results of the study.

Have a wonderful day!

Arianna de Lara

Rights & Permissions Assistant

d 424.201.8838

t <u>800.648.8857</u> or <u>424.201.8800</u>

f <u>424.201.8938</u>

625 Alaska Avenue, Torrance, CA 90503

Appendix B: PAR Permission to use PSI-4-SF

Vicki McFadden

3:23 PM (22 hours ago)



Please find attached your fully executed License Agreement.

When you have your survey ready for administration, please forward a print screen that displays the required <u>PAR Copyright Notice</u> to comply with Section 8 of your License Agreement. You can begin administering the PSI-4-SF online as soon as your website is ready.

Your License Agreement will expire on March 30, 2016. Please contact me if you need an extension for your research or any additional administrations.

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.

Sincerely,

Vicki McFadden

Permissions Specialist

Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc., 16204 N. Florida Avenue, Lutz, FL 33549, www.parinc.com

Telephone: <u>(888) 799-6082</u>; Fax: <u>(800) 727-9329</u>; Intl Fax: <u>(813) 449-4109</u>; e-mail: vmark@parinc.com

Kelly Murphy <kelly.murphy@waldenu.edu>

Mar 10 (4 days ago)



Vicki,

It looks like I will be needing an extension for the License agreement. This one is set to expire March 30th. I am defending my proposal this Saturday and will get my IRB material submitted by Monday. Best case scenario is that IRB will approve by mid-April and I will need six weeks for data collection. If I can get the license agreement to go until the end of May this should be perfect.

If you need any additional forms signed, please let me know. Thank you, Kelly Murphy



By way of this e-mail, PAR is extending your License Agreement until May 30, 2016.

Please let me know if you have any questions.

Have a great day!

Vicki McFadden

Permissions Specialist

Appendix C: Demographic Questionnaire

Demographic Questionnaire

Please answer the following questions to help me get a better understanding of who is completing this study. No identifying information will be asked. If a question does not pertain to you, select N/A or other.

- 1. What is your age?
 - o 25 or under
 - 0 26-30
 - 0 31-35
 - 0 36-40
 - 0 41-45
 - 0 46-50
 - o over 50
- 2. What is your ethnicity? (Please select all that apply.)
 - o American Indian or Alaskan Native
 - o Asian or Pacific Islander
 - o Black or African American
 - o Hispanic or Latino
 - o White / Caucasian
 - o Prefer not to answer
 - Other (please specify)
- 3. What is the highest level of school you have completed or the highest degree you have received?
 - o Less than high school degree
 - o High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED)
 - o Some college but no degree
 - Associate degree
 - o Bachelor degree
 - o Graduate degree

i. willen o	f the following best describes your current relationship status?
	Divorced
0	'
0	
	Other (please specify)
· ·	Carior (produce opening)
5. How ma	ny children are you parent or guardian for (aged 17 or younger only)? None
0	1
	2
	3
0	4 More than 4
0	More than 4
6. What is	your oldest child's age?
0	5
	6
	7
	8
0	9
0	10 11
_	11
0	12
0	12 13
0	13
0	13 14 or older
0 0 0	13
0 0 0	13 14 or older
0 0 0	13 14 or older 4 or younger

0	5
0	6
0	7
0	8
0	9
0	10
0	11
0	12
0	13
0	14 or older
0	4 or younger
0	N/A (only have one child)
9. What is t	his child's gender?
0	Воу
0	
	N/A (only have one child)
9	it, it (oilly have one oilla)
40 14/6 - 13	2
10. What is	your next oldest child's age?
0	5
0	6
0	7
0	8
0	9
0	10
0	11
0	12
0	13
0	14 or older
0	4 or younger
0	N/A (only have one or two children)
	•
11. What is	this child's gender?
2	Воу
0	DOY

o Girl

8. What is your next oldest child's age?

	13
0	N/A (only have one or two children)
	nave more than three children, please list their gender and ages below. If you do not than four children please enter 'no' or 'n/a' in the box.
13. What is	s the legal status of child custody?
0 0 0	Mom has full custody Dad has full custody Mom and Dad have joint custody Still figuring it out
14. Estima	te how much time your children live with you.
0 0 0	25% 50% 75% 100% Other (please specify)
15. How m	such time has passed since the separation/ divorce?
	1-3 months 4-6 months 7-9 months 10-12 months 13-16 months 17-20 months 21-24 months Other (please specify)
16. What v	vas the length of this marriage? (From time of wedding to time of separation).
17. Do you	work outside of the home?
0	No Part-time

- o Full-time
- More than full-time
- 18. What is the current household income? (Please estimate all income from work, child, support, and alimony).
- 19. Enter the number of hours dad spends with the children each week. You can enter hours if easy to calculate or estimate a percentage, such as 50% if there is joint custody. Please specify hours or percentages.
- 20. For the remainder of this study, please think of only one of your children, between the ages of 5 and 13, when answering questions. Please indicate the age and gender of this child you will think of.
- 21. What is the ethnicity of this child?
 - o American Indian or Alaskan Native
 - o Asian or Pacific Islander
 - o Black or African American
 - o Hispanic or Latino
 - o White / Caucasian
 - o Prefer not to answer
 - Other (please specify)